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This amendment to the Universal Registration Document 2019/2020 was filed on 7 October 2020 with the French financial
markets authority (Autorité des marchés financiers - AMF) in its capacity as the competent authority within the meaning of
EU Regulation 2017-1129, without prior approval, in accordance with Article 9 of such regulation.

The Universal Registration Document may be used for the offer to the public of securities or the admission of securities to
trading on a regulated market, provided it is accompanied by a securities note and, if applicable, a summary and all
amendments made to the Universal Registration Document. These documents are approved as a whole by the AMF in
accordance with the above-mentioned regulation.

This amendment (the “Amendment”) supplements and should be read together with the Universal
Registration Document 2019/2020 filed with the AMF on 2 June 2020, under number D.20-0508 (the
“Universal Registration Document 2019/2020).

A reconciliation table is provided in this Amendment to facilitate locating the information incorporated by
reference and the information being updated or modified.

In the Amendment, “Alstom” and the “Company” mean Alstom S.A., and the “Group” means the Company
and all of its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Universal Registration Document 2019/2020 and the related Amendment are available on Alstom’s
website (www.alstom.com) under the heading “Finance—Regulated Information,” as well as on the website
of the AMF (www.amf-france.org).



http://www.alstom.com/
http://www.amf-france.org/

PRELIMINARY NOTE

In this Amendment:

“Acquisition” means the acquisition by Alstom of control, through Alstom Holdings, a direct and
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Alstom, of all of the entities making up Bombardier Inc.’s
Transportation division (“Bombardier Transportation”);

“Affiliate” means, in relation to any undertaking, any subsidiary or holding company of that
undertaking, and any subsidiary of any such holding company, and any other undertaking directly
or indirectly Controlling, Controlled by, or under direct or indirect common Control with such
undertaking, in each case from time to time. Portfolio companies of the members of the CDPQ
group (composed of CDPQ and its Affiliates) shall not be considered Affiliates.

For the purposes of this definition, “Control” means, in relation to any undertaking (the
“Controlled Person”), being entitled to:

(a)  exercise, or control the exercise of (directly or indirectly), more than 50% of the voting
rights at a general meeting of the shareholders, members or partners or other equity
holders, in respect of all or substantially all matters to be decided by the meeting of such
persons; or

(b)  appoint, remove, or control the appointment or removal of:

i.  members of the Controlled Person’s board of directors, supervisory board, or any
other similar body of the Controlled Person who are able (in the aggregate) to
exercise more than 50% of the voting rights at meetings of that board or governing
body in respect of all or substantially all matters;

il.  any managing member of such Controlled Person; or
iii.  in the case of a limited partnership, the general partner; or

(c)  exercise a dominant influence over the Controlled Person pursuant to its constitutional
documents or otherwise.

“General Meeting” means Alstom’s combined general shareholders’ meeting called for 29
October 2020 to approve the Transaction;

“Planned Capital Increase” means the capital increase of Alstom with preservation of the
preferential subscription right for an amount, including issuance premium, of approximately €2
billion, which is planned to be carried out between the General Meeting and the first anniversary
of the Completion Date;

“Bombardier Inc.” means Bombardier Inc., a Canadian company that holds, directly or indirectly
and jointly with CDPQ, Bombardier Transportation;

“Bombardier Transportation” means all of the entities making up the Transportation division
of Bombardier Inc. (i.e. Bombardier Transportation UK2 and its subsidiaries);



“Bombardier Transportation UK2” means Bombardier Transportation (Investment) UK
Limited, an English company;

“Bombardier UK” means Bombardier UK Holding Limited, an English company held directly
or indirectly by Bombardier Inc.;

“CDP Investissements” means CDP Investissements Inc., a company incorporated under the
laws of Québec, held directly or indirectly by CDPQ;

“CDPQ” means Caisse de dépot et de placement du Québec, a legal entity formed pursuant to the
Law on the Caisse de Dépot et Placement du Québec that holds, directly or indirectly and together
with Bombardier Inc., Bombardier Transportation;

“Completion Date” means the completion date of the Acquisition, which will occur on the last
Business Day of the second month following the last Business Day of the month during which the
last of the conditions precedent provided for in the Acquisition Agreement is satisfied or waived,
relating to the receipt of authorisations from the competent authorities regarding (i) merger control,
and (ii) foreign investment control (as described in the section 1.2.1 “Description of the transaction
to acquire Bombardier Transportation — Legal aspects of the Transaction — Acquisition of
Bombardier Transportation” in this Amendment;

“Business Day” means a day, except a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks in each of London (the
United Kingdom), Paris (France), Montreal (Canada) and New York (United States of America)
are open for business generally.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSACTION TO ACQUIRE BOMBARDIER
TRANSPORTATION

The “Acquisition of Bombardier Transportation” section in Chapter 1 of the Universal Registration
Document 2019/20 is hereby amended and supplemented as follows:

1.1 Description of the Transaction
1.1.1 Background of the Transaction

Following discussions among Alstom, Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ, on 17 February 2020 Alstom’s Board
of Directors approved the Acquisition in principle and approved the signature of a Memorandum of
Understanding organising the information-consultation procedure with the relevant Alstom and Bombardier
Transportation unions and including an exclusivity clause for the benefit of the parties in connection with
the planned Acquisition.

On 16 September 2020, Alstom, Alstom Holdings (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Bombardier Inc., Bombardier UK (a wholly owned subsidiary of Bombardier Inc.), CDPQ, CDP
Investissements, BT Rail I L.P. and BT Rail II L.P. (wholly owned subsidiaries of CDPQ) and certain of
their subsidiaries entered into a share sale and purchase agreement governing the Acquisition (the
“Acquisition Agreement”).

The Acquisition will be financed in part through a bank facility put in place in April 2020 (see Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2020 in the Universal Registration
Document 2019/20 for a detailed description of such financing), consisting of a €2.4 billion syndicated
bridge loan, to be refinanced by the Planned Capital Increase and a bond issuance of approximately €400
million. Depending on market conditions and on the progress made on the Transaction, the bond issuance
could be launched from the fourth quarter of 2020.

Bombardier UK and CDP Investissements will reinvest a portion of the Acquisition’s proceeds in Alstom’s
capital (further to a delegation of receivables from Alstom Holdings to Alstom in connection with the
payment of the Acquisition Price) through capital increases reserved for them, pursuant to the following
terms:

- Bombardier UK will subscribe for new ordinary shares of the Company for a maximum amount of
€500 million, which may be increased to a maximum of €650 million, pursuant to the terms of the
investment agreement entered into on 16 September 2020 (the “Bombardier Reinvestment
Agreement”) as described in Section 1.2.2(a), “Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement,” of this
Amendment (the “Bombardier Reinvestment”). These new shares will be paid up by set-off of
claims; and

- CDP Investissements (i) will reinvest all amounts received in the Acquisition (with the exception
of amounts received in respect of (x) any direct or indirect recapitalisation of Bombardier
Transportation by CDPQ and Bombardier Inc. between the signature of the Memorandum of
Understanding on 17 February 2020 and the Completion Date, subject to a €750 million cap, and
(y) the return on the recapitalisations carried out by CDPQ), which comes to a total subscribed
amount, through set-off of claims, of between €1.93 billion and €2.08 billion (depending on the
amount of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price (as such term is defined below)); and
(i1) will subscribe for new shares, to be paid up in cash, for an additional amount of €700 million.
The terms of this reinvestment in equity and of an additional €700 million subscription by CDP
Investissements are governed by an investment agreement entered into on 16 September 2020 (the



“CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement”) as described in Section 1.2.2(b), “CDPQ Reinvestment
Agreement,” of this Amendment (the “CDPQ Reinvestment” and, together with the Bombardier
Reinvestment and the Acquisition, the “Transaction”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the parties undertook, upon Alstom’s request and as
soon as possible after the signature of the Acquisition Agreement, to form a committee comprising
representatives of Alstom, Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ), for the purpose of preparing for and planning the
integration of Bombardier Transportation into the Alstom Group.

At Alstom’s initiative, on a voluntary bas, Finexsi, an independent expert, has reviewed the terms of the
Transaction. Finexsi’s fairness opinion, dated 27 September 2020, is included in Annex 1 to this
Amendment.

1.1.2 Advantages of the Transaction for Alstom and its shareholders

Alstom is one of the leading players in rail transportation. During the 2016-2019 period, after it refocused
its business on mobility in 2016, Alstom saw strong improvement in its operational and financial profile.
In 2019 the Group presented a new, ambitious strategic plan, “Alstom in Motion,” centred on growth, green
and digital innovation, and operational efficiency.

The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation, the fourth largest player in the industry, is a major
opportunity for Alstom, enabling it to accelerate its strategic roadmap and respond to the increasing demand
for sustainable mobility.

In particular, Bombardier Transportation will provide Alstom with the following:

e A complementary geographical presence that will reinforce Alstom’s access to key railway
markets, leveraging Bombardier’s successful historical track record in Germany, the United
Kingdom, and North America, as well as its significant presence in China;

e Attractive complements to Alstom’s Rolling Stock portfolio, enabling it to offer a complete product
line over all rail segments, in order to better satisfy the specific needs of each of its customers in
terms of mobility solutions (in particular for very specific niche products such as the Monorail or
the People Mover), while at the same time contributing its recognised expertise through the
development of specific local solutions for its strategic customers;

o Significant assets for Alstom’s Services business, with access to the largest installed train fleet in
the world and a vast maintenance facilities network, in a segment characterised by strong added
value, thus opening new opportunities through the strengthening of Alstom’s service offerings and
geographical coverage;

e Strong complementarity in Signalling and access to strategic markets such as Germany, in order to
accelerate deployment of its solutions, leveraging its access to new markets and its highly skilled
workers, to consolidate Alstom’s objectives in this strategic segment;

e A complete innovation portfolio and significant engineering and Research and Development
resources to further reinforce its technological positioning in smart and sustainable mobility
solutions; and



e An industrial presence in countries with attractive cost bases, such as the Eastern European
countries, Mexico, and China, as well as complementarity in mature markets such as Germany and

the United Kingdom.

Alstom’s objective is to re-establish Bombardier Transportation’s operational potential and profitability
and to restore its margins and improve execution quality, in line with Alstom’s standards. To achieve this
objective, Alstom will leverage clearly identified drivers:

e Particular attention to improving operational indicators and execution of backlog, relying on the
systematic deployment of the know-how and good practices that Alstom has developed;

e An action plan to promote the successful integration and deployment of Alstom’s processes and

technologies on a worldwide scale;

e Alstom’s financial discipline and successful experience in improving margins;

e The cultural proximity and thorough knowledge of Bombardier Transportation acquired through

numerous joint projects.

Moreover, Alstom has identified concrete synergies and set an objective to generate €400 million in cost
synergies per year beginning in the fourth or fifth year following completion of the Acquisition.

Finally, it is Alstom’s goal that the Transaction will lead to two-digit accretion of Net Profit per Share
(NPPS) to Alstom’s shareholders beginning in the second year following completion of the Acquisition.
This accretion, which is calculated after cost synergies and implementation costs and before amortisation
of the purchase price allocation (PPA), would result from increased efficiency as well as the strengthened
operational profile of the combined Group following the Transaction.

Alstom’s customers will also benefit from the strengthened expertise and expanded portfolio of the new

combined group.

1.1.3 Provisional Transaction timetable

If the Planned Capital Increase occurs prior to the Completion Date

Expected Date

Step in the Transaction

29 October 2020

General Meeting

2nd half 2020 — 1st quarter 2021

Launch of the Planned Capital Increase, subject to market
conditions

Ist quarter 2021 (subject to approvals
from regulatory authorities and
customary conditions precedent)

Completion Date

Capital increase reserved for Bombardier UK, through the issuance
of ordinary shares

Capital increase reserved for CDP Investissements, through the
issuance of Preferred Shares immediately converted into ordinary
shares or through the issuance of ordinary shares

If the Planned Capital Increase occurs after the Completion Date

| Expected Date

Step in the Transaction




29 October 2020 e  General Meeting

Ist quarter 2021 (subject to regulatory | ¢  Completion Date

authorisations and customary prior e Capital increase reserved for Bombardier UK, through the issuance

conditions) of ordinary shares

e (Capital increase reserved for CDP Investissements, through the
issuance of Preferred Shares

Post-Completion Date (1st semester e Launch of the Planned Capital Increase, subject to market

2021) conditions

e Conversion of the Preferred Shares into ordinary shares on the
settlement and delivery date of the Planned Capital Increase

One year after the Completion Date e Conversion of the Preferred Shares into ordinary shares if the

Planned Capital Increase has not been completed

1.2 Legal aspects of the Transaction
1.2.1 Acquisition of Bombardier Transportation

The Acquisition Agreement provides that Alstom will acquire Bombardier Transportation through its
subsidiary, Alstom Holdings (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company). An organisational chart of the
Alstom Group following completion of the Transaction is included in Annex 2 to this Amendment.

The Acquisition Agreement includes customary, warranties, and covenants by each of the parties, as well
as, with respect to Bombardier Inc., tax and compliance indemnification, under which total indemnification
by Bombardier Inc. for any breach or violation (excluding fundamental warranties, in particular relating to
ownership of the shares that are the subject of the Acquisition, the sellers’ capacity, their organisation, the
approval of regulatory authorities, and the absence of insolvency proceedings) or by CDPQ (which is
responsible only for a breach or violation relating to the implementation of information barriers within the
CDPQ group) is capped at €100 million. The liability incurred by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ, with respect
to any breach of their respective fundamental warranties, and by Alstom, with respect to any breach of its
warranties, is limited to the Acquisition Price.

The Acquisition Agreement includes guarantee undertakings by the sellers with respect to the ordinary
course conduct of the business of the Bombardier Transportation entities until the completion date of the
Acquisition, and in particular:

(i)  Financial and operational reporting obligations (x) on a weekly basis after satisfaction of the last
of the conditions relating to the approval of the Acquisition by the competent merger controls and
foreign investment controls authorities, with respect to the statement of cash flows and the use of
revolving credit lines, (y) on a monthly basis in particular with respect to EBIT and EBITDA, cash
position, and the status of its principal customer contracts, and (z) on a quarterly basis with respect
to such items as financial statements, cash position, and principal customer contracts;

(i)  An obligation not to carry out or commit to carry out significant transactions outside the ordinary
course of their business and/or that could affect the value of the Bombardier Transportation
companies without Alstom’s consent (which may not be unreasonably delayed or denied). For
example, any decision relating to a modification of a significant contract or a significant financing
arrangement (subject to certain exceptions), to any action resulting in a change in expenditures of
more than 10% of the budget or to a failure to take reasonable steps to prevent such a change, to
the commencement of any dispute with an amount in controversy of more than €10 million, or to



(iii)

any disposal or acquisition of activities for an amount of greater than €10 million is subject to
Alstom’s prior authorisation (which may not be unreasonably delayed or denied);

The formation of a Review Committee composed of the CEO and CFO of Bombardier
Transportation UK?2, as well as of two representatives appointed by CDPQ. Alstom will not have
a representative on this committee. The role of the CEO and CFO of Bombardier Transportation
UK2 on the committee is to report to the committee on the performance of Bombardier
Transportation in terms of Bombardier Transportation’s general operational objectives, its
obligations under its most significant contracts, and the actions taken with respect to the Covid-10
health situation, on the basis of which the Review Committee will be responsible for making any
necessary recommendations. The documentation provided to the Review Committee with respect
to the Coronavirus situation will also be communicated to Alstom, unless applicable regulations do
not so permit.

In addition, the Acquisition Agreement includes conditions precedent that must be satisfied prior to
completion of the Acquisition (the “Conditions Precedent”). The Conditions Precedent are as follows:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

(vi)

Authorisation of the Acquisition by the European Commission with respect to the merger control,
as well as by the competition authorities in Australia, Canada, China, Russia, South Africa, Taiwan,
the United States, Brazil, India, Israel, Mexico, Morocco, Singapore, and Turkey. On 31 July 2020,
the European Commission authorised the Acquisition subject to compliance with certain
commitments, which had been proposed by Alstom (see below). As of the date of this Amendment,
approvals have been obtained for all of the other jurisdictions except Canada, China, South Africa,
the United States, Mexico, and Morocco;

Approval of the Acquisition by the competent regulatory authorities relating to foreign investment
controls in Canada (where the required authorisation has been obtained as of the date of this
Amendment), the United States (where the relevant approval was obtained on 20 July 2020), and
Australia;

Termination of the shareholders’ agreement between Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ with respect to
Bombardier Transportation;

The absence of any material breach of the fundamental warranties made by Bombardier Inc. and
CDPQ that has not been cured prior to the end of the Condition Precedent Satisfaction Period (as
such term is defined below);

The absence of any breach by Bombardier Transportation of its undertakings with respect to the
interim period prior to completion of the Acquisition (as described above) resulting in a material
adverse change, or, subject to certain exceptions, in (i) a decrease in the value of Bombardier
Transportation’s net consolidated assets of at least €500 million; (ii) a decrease in Bombardier
Transportation’s consolidated results of operations before interest and taxes of at least €275 million
in one fiscal year; or (iii) the termination of the financing put in place by Alstom or Alstom
Holdings in connection with the Acquisition;

The absence of any material adverse change, namely, subject to certain exceptions, a change
resulting in (i) a decrease in the value of Bombardier Transportation’s net consolidated assets of at
least €1 billion; (ii) a decrease in Bombardier Transportation’s consolidated results of operations
before interest and taxes of at least €550 million in one fiscal year; or (iii) the termination of the
financing put in place by Alstom in connection with the Acquisition, it being specified that pursuant
to the exceptions referred to above, a change (even one satisfying the above criteria) will not
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constitute a material adverse change if it results from changes in general manufacturing conditions
or from macroeconomic disturbances (including due to the spread of a virus or illness), unless such
change affects Bombardier Transportation in a manner that is materially disproportionate as
compared with its competitors;

(vii)  The adoption by the General Meeting of the resolutions relating to the Transaction, authorising
both the Planned Capital Increase and the capital increases reserved for Bombardier UK and CDPQ
in respect, respectively, of the Bombardier Reinvestment and the CDPQ Reinvestment (see sub-
section 1.2.2 “Reinvestment by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ,” below), it being specified that Alstom
has undertaken to call and hold that General Meeting prior to 31 October 2020;

(viii)  Signature of the Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement and the CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement
(which occurred on 16 September 2020) and satisfaction of the conditions precedent provided for
therein (as described in sub-section 1.2.2 “Reinvestment by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ,” below);
and

X ['he absence of any prohibition of or limitation on the Transaction’s completion by a competent
yp p Yy p
governmental authority or court.

The Acquisition Agreement provides that all of the Conditions Precedent must be satisfied within 18 months
following its signature (the “Condition Precedent Satisfaction Period”) (which period may be extended
by 90 days by agreement of the parties in the event of a breach of certain warranties made by Bombardier
Inc. and CDPQ that can be cured). Alstom, Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ may mutually agree to waive one
or more of the Conditions Precedent, with the exception of those listed in (iii) through (vi) above, which
are for the sole benefit of Alstom.

On 31 July 2020, the European Commission authorised the Acquisition, subject to compliance with the
following commitments:

e A transfer of Bombardier Transportation’s contribution to its cooperation with Hitachi on the very
high-speed train Zefiro V300 as well as of intellectual property licenses to Hitachi, with respect to
the train jointly developed by Hitachi and Bombardier Transportation for use in connection with
future calls for bids for very high-speed trains in the United Kingdom;

e Divestment of Alstom’s Coradia Polyvalent and of the Reichshoffen production site in France;

e Divestment of the Bombardier TALENT 3 and dedicated production facilities located within the
Hennigsdorf site in Germany; and

e Providing third parties with access to certain interfaces and products for some of Bombardier
Transportation’s Signalling On-Board Units and Train Control Management Systems (TCMS).

These commitments are the same as those that Alstom had proposed to the European Commission on 9 July
2020, and completion of the Transaction does not require that they be carried out prior to the Closing Date.

The Acquisition Agreement also provides for termination fees if the Acquisition fails to be completed under
the following circumstances:

- Alstom will be required to pay a termination fee of €150 million if (i) the extraordinary general

meeting called to approve the capital increases planned in connection with the Transaction is
not held or does not approve the corresponding resolutions prior to the end of the Condition
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Precedent Satisfaction Period; or (ii) Alstom has not obtained or maintained the necessary
financing for completion of the Transaction;

- Alstom will be required to pay a termination fee of €200 million if a competition authority fails
to approve the Acquisition, subject to certain limited exceptions; and

- Bombardier Inc. will be required to pay Alstom a termination fee of €150 million in the event
of certain prohibitions or injunctions that prevent completion of the Acquisition, if it is shown
that the prohibition or injunction was not purged prior to expiration of the Condition Precedent
Satisfaction Period.

The Acquisition Agreement provides for payment of the acquisition price (the “Acquisition Price”) by
Alstom Holdings in two stages:

- On the Completion Date of the Acquisition, Alstom will be required to pay the first tranche of
the Acquisition Price (the “First Tranche of the Acquisition Price”), consisting of the
minimum price provided for in the Acquisition Agreement and detailed below (the “Minimum
Price”), adjusted, if applicable: (i) downward by the amount of Bombardier Transportation’s
estimated negative cash position as of 31 December 2020, calculated as the difference, on the
one hand, between Bombardier Transportation’s available cash' and, on the other hand, the
financial debt, plus amounts relating to overdue supplier payables, reverse factoring, and
receivables (AR) factoring in excess of certain thresholds (the “Liquidity Position
Adjustment”); and (ii)) upward in the amount of any recapitalisation of Bombardier
Transportation carried out by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ between the signature of the
Memorandum of Understanding and the Completion Date (up to a limit of €750 million). These
amounts will be determined for the purposes of the First Tranche of the Acquisition Price on
the basis of the preliminary accounts prepared by Bombardier Inc. and reviewed by Alstom
(with no requirement for Bombardier Inc. to take Alstom's review or comments into account
for the purposes of payment of the First Tranche of the Acquisition Price). The preliminary
accounts must be prepared in accordance with the accounting methods agreed to in the
Acquisition Agreement, which will also be applied by Alstom in preparing the final accounts
for Bombardier Transportation to be used in calculating the amount of the Second Tranche of
the Acquisition Price (see below).

The Minimum Price is equal to €5.5 billion, adjusted, if applicable: (i) downward in the amount
of certain amounts from Bombardier Transportation that Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ may have
deposited after 1 January 2021 and (ii) upward, if the Completion Date occurs after 1 January
2021, by an amount calculated pro rata on the basis of an increase of €50 million per quarter.

The reference Acquisition Price for Bombardier Transportation will be determined on the basis
of the most recent available financial statements following the Acquisition (the “Reference
Price”) and will be equal to €7.15 billion, adjusted, if applicable: (i) downward in the amount
of Bombardier Transportation’s net debt (calculated as the difference between Bombardier
Transportation’s indebtedness and its cash, less certain liabilities relating to Bombardier
Transportation’s undertakings; (ii) downward in the amount of certain liabilities relating to
Bombardier Transportation’s pension obligations; and (iii) upward or downward in the amount

!'It being specified that the recapitalizations of Bombardier Transportation carried out by Bombardier Inc. and
CDPQ between the signature of the Memorandum of Understanding and the Completion Date are subtracted from
Bombardier Transportation’s liquidity position for the purposes of calculating the Liquidity Position Adjustment (up
to a limit of €750 million).
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of Bombardier Transportation’s net working capital as compared with a reference position
agreed upon by Alstom, Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ.

The Acquisition Price will be equal to the Reference Price, unless the Reference Price is (i)
lower than the Minimum Price (as defined above), in which case the Acquisition Price will be
equal to the Minimum Price; or (ii) higher than the Maximum Price (as defined below), in
which case the Acquisition Price will be equal to the Maximum Price.

The maximum price under the Acquisition Agreement (the “Maximum Price”) is €5.9 billion,
adjusted, if applicable: (i) downward in the amount of certain amounts from Bombardier
Transportation that Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ may have collected after 1 January 2021 and
(i1) upward, if the Completion Date occurs after 1 January 2021, by an amount calculated pro
rata on the basis of an increase of €100 million per quarter.

The amount of the recapitalisations of Bombardier Transportation carried out by Bombardier
Inc. and CDPQ between the signature of the Memorandum of Understanding and the
Completion Date (up to a maximum of €750 million), which will be taken into account in the
calculation of the First Tranche of the Acquisition Price, could cause the First Tranche of the
Acquisition Price to exceed the Maximum Price (in other words, if the amount of these
recapitalisations, when added to the Minimum Price, adjusted, if applicable, by the Liquidity
Position Adjustment, exceeds the Maximum Price, then the acquisition price paid by Alstom
Holdings will exceed the Maximum Price (up to a limit of €750 million)), although the sellers
are required to use reasonable efforts to prevent such an excess.

- Following completion of the Acquisition, Alstom will prepare final financial statements for
Bombardier Transportation taking the Acquisition into account in order to calculate the amount
of the second tranche of the Acquisition Price (the “Second Tranche of the Acquisition
Price”).

The First Tranche of the Acquisition Price will be paid on the Completion Date:

- to CDPQ, (i) in shares of the Company to be paid up by set-off of claims (further to a delegation
of payment by Alstom Holdings to Alstom of the amount of the Acquisition Price), for an
amount equal to approximately €1.93 billion), and (ii) in cash for an amount equal to the portion
of the abovementioned recapitalisations of Bombardier Transportation carried out by CDPQ
(subject to the €750 million cap applicable to the Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ recapitalisations)
above €100 million, in addition to the return on such recapitalisations;

- to Bombardier Inc. for the remaining portion of the First Tranche of the Acquisition Price, (i)
in shares of the Company to be paid up by set-off of claims (further to a delegation of payment
from Alstom Holdings to Alstom of the payment of the amount of the Acquisition Price, for a
maximum amount equal to approximately €650 million (see sub-section 1.2.2(a), “Bombardier
Reinvestment Agreement,” below, with respect to such reinvestment)) and (ii) in cash for the
remaining portion (including, if applicable, the amount of the abovementioned recapitalisations
of Bombardier Transportation by Bombardier Inc. (subject to the €750 million cap applicable
to the Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ recapitalisations) and any amount above €100 million related
to the abovementioned recapitalisations of Bombardier Transportation carried out by CDPQ).

The Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price will be equal to the Acquisition Price, as ultimately

determined, adjusted, if applicable: (i) downward in the amount of any Liquidity Position Adjustment, as
ultimately determined; (ii) downward in the amount of the First Tranche of the Acquisition Price; and (iii)
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upward in the amount of any recapitalisation of Bombardier Transportation carried out by Bombardier Inc.
and CDPQ between signature of the Memorandum of Understanding and the Completion Date (up to a
€750 million cap applicable to the recapitalisations carried out by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ), to the extent
that such amounts have not been taken into account as part of the first Tranche of the Acquisition Price.

After a maximum period of 10 months following the Completion Date for Alstom to review the final
Bombardier Transportation financial statements (subject to any additional period relating to the
appointment an independent expert in the event of a disagreement between the parties), Alstom Holdings
will pay the amount of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price, if it is positive, to CDP Investissements
in shares (up to a maximum of €150 million) and to Bombardier UK in cash (in the event of a surplus).
Conversely, if the amount of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price is negative, Bombardier UK will
repay Alstom Holdings that amount in cash within the same period of time.

Any cash payment made by Alstom Holdings to Bombardier Inc. will be in dollars (with the exception of
the payment of any amount related to the recapitalizations of Bombardier Transportation by Bombardier
Inc. and CDPQ between 17 February 2020 (date of signature of the Memorandum of Understanding) and
the Completion Date (up to a maximum of €750 million), which will be made in euros). The payment in
dollars will be made on the basis of an exchange rate determined on the signature date of the Acquisition
Agreement (of approximately $1.17 per euro) and taking into account hedging and other related costs,
which will be borne by Bombardier Inc.

1.2.2 Reinvestment by Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ
(a) Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement

Pursuant to the Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement, Bombardier UK, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Bombardier Inc., has undertaken to subscribe directly or indirectly for a capital increase of Alstom in a
fixed amount of €500 million. It is specified that the Acquisition Agreement and the Bombardier
Reinvestment Agreement provide that if the amounts due by the Bombardier Transportation companies to
financial institutions in respect of construction advance agreements and forfaiting agreements exceed €575
million, then an amount equal to the excess beyond that threshold, up to a limit of €150 million, will be
paid to Bombardier UK in Alstom shares rather than in cash. In that event, the Alstom capital increase
reserved for Bombardier UK could be increased from €500 million to a maximum of €650 million. The
subscription price for the Alstom shares issued pursuant to the Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement is
equal to €47.50 per Alstom share. The number of shares issued may be adjusted in the event of dilutive
transactions in Alstom’s capital, such as the Planned Capital Increase, prior to the Completion Date, it being
specified that these adjustments will have no impact on the total amount subscribed by Bombardier Inc. For
a description of the situations in which adjustments will be made, see Annex 3 to this Amendment.

The Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement provides for a three-month lockup of Bombardier UK’s shares
of Alstom following the Completion Date, with the exceptions of (i) transfers to Affiliates of Bombardier
UK, (ii) transfers following the filing of a tender offer, (iii) transfers authorised by Alstom, and (iv) transfers
following the commencement of proceedings governed by Book VI of the French Commercial Code
concerning Alstom (it being specified that the lockup commitment does not apply to any preferential
subscription rights that may be attached to the Alstom shares).

The Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement provides that this capital increase will be paid for by set-off
against its claim for the purchase price in the Acquisition (further to a delegation of payment from Alstom
Holdings to Alstom in connection with the payment of the Acquisition Price by Alstom Holdings),
simultaneously with completion of the Transaction, subject to satisfaction of the following conditions
precedent:
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(i)  The approval by Alstom’s extraordinary general meeting of the capital increase reserved for
Bombardier UK and the capital increase reserved for CDP Investissements (with respect to the
latter, see Section 1.2.2(b), below);

(ii))  The convening of Alstom’s extraordinary general meeting called to vote on the Planned Capital
Increase;

(iii)  Satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent to the Acquisition Agreement;

(iv)  The absence of significant breaches of certain fundamental warranties contained in the Bombardier
Reinvestment Agreement; and

(v)  The absence of any judgment or injunction preventing the Transaction or the Reserved Capital
Increase for the benefit of Bombardier UK.

Alstom and Bombardier Inc. may mutually agree to waive one or more of the conditions precedent listed
above, with the exception of those listed in (iv) above, which is for the sole benefit of the party that is not
responsible for the significant breach or breaches of certain fundamental warranties provided for in the
Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement.

(b) CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement

The CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement provides that CDP Investissements will reinvest the proceeds from
the purchase price to be paid by Alstom Holdings on the Completion Date (with the exception of the
amounts invested by CDPQ in the recapitalisation of Bombardier Transportation and of the return on the
recapitalisation), which comes to a total subscribed amount of between €1.93 billion and €2.08 billion
(depending on the amount of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price (as such term is defined above))
through a reserved capital increase for the benefit of CDP Investissements, subscribed by way of set-off of
claims (after a delegation by Alstom Holdings to the Company with respect to the payment of the
Acquisition Price to be paid by Alstom Holdings), plus an additional amount of €700 million. If the amount
of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price is positive and required to be paid to CDPQ by Alstom
Holdings, such amount will also be set off against CDP Investissements' subscription of new shares issued
by Alstom after a delegation to Alstom with respect to the payment of the Acquisition Price. The
reinvestment would be implemented through a reserved capital increase by way of issuance of (i) class B
preferred shares mandatorily convertible into new ordinary shares (the ‘“Preferred Shares”) or, depending
on the structure ultimately chosen, (ii) ordinary shares.

These two possible structures are currently being reviewed. It is specified that the two resolutions are
alternatives, and that the Board of Directors’ choice between the two structures will have no impact on the
position of the Company’s shareholders. Please refer to the report of the Board of Directors of the Company
to the general shareholders’ meeting to be held on 29 October 2020, available on the Company's website
(https://www.alstom.com/finance/shareholders-meetings), which sets out the terms and conditions of these
resolutions.

The CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement provides that the Preferred Shares or the ordinary shares may be
transferred to CDPQ following their subscription.

The CDPQ Reinvestment is also subject to the satisfaction of conditions precedent, including with respect
to obtaining authorisations from competition and other regulatory authorities.
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Issuance of the Preferred Shares

Features of the Preferred Shares

The number of Preferred Shares that may be issued to CDP Investissements on the Completion Date and,
if applicable, on the payment date of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price, will be calculated based
on (i) the amount of the sale price, and, if applicable, of the adjustment to the sale price; and (ii) the issuance
price per share of the Preferred Shares, which is €44.45.

As explained above, Alstom Holdings, the acquiring Alstom Group entity in connection with the
Acquisition, will delegate to Alstom all or part of the corresponding purchase price debt owed to CDPQ
and Bombardier Inc. Thus, the reserved capital increase will be paid (i) by set-off of the amount of that
claim; and (ii) for the remainder (in the amount of €700 million), by cash payment on the Completion Date.

The terms and conditions of the Preferred Shares (the “Terms and Conditions”) are set forth in Annex 4
to this Amendment and are subject to approval by the shareholders at the General Meeting. These terms
and conditions are the subject of a report by a special benefits appraiser (commissaire aux avantages
particuliers), which is attached in Annex 5 to this Amendment.

The Preferred Shares will have a nominal value of seven euros per share. Subject to the specific rights
attached to them, the Preferred Shares will have the same rights and obligations as those attached to
Alstom’s ordinary shares. Specifically, each Preferred Share will give its holder the right to vote at ordinary
and extraordinary general shareholders’ meetings of the holders of Alstom’s ordinary shares, in a ratio of
one voting right per Preferred Share.

At any given time, each Preferred Share will give an ownership right to the Company's assets and to the
distribution of dividends (excluding distributions of premiums and/or reserves), in an amount equal to the
product of (i) the right attached to an ordinary share of the Company in accordance with Articles 21 (Profits)
and 23 (Liquidation — Appointment — Powers of the Liquidators) of the Company's Articles of Association
and (ii) the number of ordinary share(s) to be received upon conversion of the Preferred Shares if such
conversion were to take place on the date of the decision to distribute the dividend.

The Preferred Shares will not have preferential subscription rights.
Preferred Shares conversion dates

If the Planned Capital Increase is carried out prior to the issuance date of the Preferred Shares (which will
take place on the Completion Date and, if applicable, in the event of a Second Tranche of the Acquisition
Price, on the payment date of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price), the Preferred Shares will be
automatically converted into ordinary shares of Alstom on their issuance date (i.e., respectively, on the
Completion Date and, if applicable, on the payment date of the Second Tranche of the Acquisition Price).

If the Planned Capital Increase is not carried out prior to their issuance date, the Preferred Shares will be
automatically converted into ordinary shares of Alstom, and the ordinary shares resulting from the
conversion will bear immediate rights to dividends, on the earlier to occur of the following two dates: (i)
the first anniversary of the Completion Date; and (ii) the settlement and delivery date of the Planned Capital
Increase.
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Adjustments to the number of ordinary shares resulting from the conversion of Preferred Shares

The number of ordinary shares that may result from the conversion of the Preferred Shares will be
determined by a conversion ratio of one new ordinary share for one Preferred Share (subject to the
adjustments described below), it being specified that the maximum number of ordinary shares issued upon
conversion of the Preferred Shares may not exceed 29.90% of the share capital or voting rights of the
Company on the conversion date. In all circumstances where the application of this 29.90% threshold has
prevented the issuance of ordinary shares that would have been issued but for the application of that
threshold, Alstom will pay CDP Investissements, on the Completion Date, an amount in euros equal to the
product of (i) the number of ordinary shares not issued as a result of the application of the threshold and (ii)
the price of an Alstom ordinary share at the close of the trading day preceding the Completion Date.

The conversion ratio will be subject to adjustments in order to protect the holders of the Preferred Shares
in the event of certain transactions in the share capital on or after 17 February 2020, and in particular the
dilutive effect of the Planned Capital Increase.

The terms of adjustment of the conversion ratio in connection with the Planned Capital Increase are set
forth in section “Conversion of the Class B Preferred Shares” of the Terms and Conditions. The other
events and terms of adjustment are set forth in Annex B to the Terms and Conditions.

In the event of transactions giving rise to such adjustments prior to the conversion of the Preferred Shares
into ordinary shares, and provided that CDPQ and its Affiliates hold at least 50% of the Preferred Shares,
any resolution proposed at an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders may be adopted only with the
positive vote of the holders of the Preferred Shares.

The new ordinary shares issued in connection with these adjustments would be paid up using the issuance
premium portion of the subscription price for the Preferred Shares. That issuance premium will be allocated
to a “premium account” (the “Unavailable Account”), which will be unavailable prior to conversion of the
Preferred Shares into ordinary shares of Alstom. If the implementation of a transaction triggering one or
more adjustment(s) would make it impossible to issue all the ordinary shares upon conversion of the
Preferred Shares using only the Unavailable Account, then the Company will transfer to another reserve
account (the “Additional Unavailable Account”) the amount of premiums or reserves reasonably
necessary to enable the conversion in full of the Preferred Shares into a sufficient number of ordinary shares,
and the amount of the premiums or reserves thus transferred will become unavailable.

The Preferred Shares will not be admitted to trading on their issuance date. However, CDP Investissements
will be entitled to ask Alstom to apply for listing on Euronext Paris, in all circumstances where CDP
Investissements or CDPQ is entitled to and wishes to transfer its Preferred Shares to a third party (other
than its Affiliates) during the lock-up period (as described below).

With the exceptions of (i) transfers to CDPQ); (ii) transfers to Affiliates of CDPQ; (iii) transfers following
the filing of a tender offer; (iv) transfers authorised by Alstom in response to a request by CDPQ); (v)
transfers following the commencement of proceedings governed by Book VI of the French Commercial
Code concerning Alstom SA; and (vi) transfers carried out in order to authorise CDPQ and its Affiliates to
reduce their equity investment to not less than 19.8% prior to a distribution (“Authorised Transfers”), the
Preferred Shares will not be transferable.

The ordinary shares resulting from the conversion will be subject to a lockup period of 21 months (except
for Authorised Transfers) as from the Completion Date. After the end of the lockup period, the ordinary
shares held by CDPQ and its Affiliates would not be transferable off-market to Alstom competitors (as
defined in the documentation) without Alstom’s prior consent, it being specified that CDPQ and its
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Affiliates would remain free, following the expiration of the lockup period, to sell their Alstom shares on
the market or through an accelerated book building process (with no restrictions on such process).

In addition, pursuant to the CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement, CDPQ has agreed to a ten-year standstill
following the signature date, during which period, unless it obtains Alstom’s approval, its equity investment
is not to exceed the higher of the two following amounts: (i) 22% of the share capital, and (ii) its equity
investment following the Completion Date plus 2%. In the event that it exceeds that threshold, CDPQ must
come into compliance within six months.

Issuance of ordinary shares

Alstom may decide to issue ordinary shares to CDP Investissements in lieu of Preferred Shares, in which
case CDP Investissements undertakes to subscribe for such issuance of ordinary shares. In that event, the
number of ordinary shares to be issued will be equal to the number of Preferred Shares that would have
been issued on the Completion Date and, as the case may be, on the payment date of the Second Tranche
of the Acquisition Price, subject to any adjustments that may have occurred between 17 February 2020 and
the Completion Date, as set forth in Annex 6 to this Amendment.

Please refer to the report of the Board of Directors of the Company to the general shareholders’ meeting
to be held on 29 October 2020, available on the Company's website
(https://www.alstom.com/finance/shareholders-meetings), which sets out the terms and conditions of
these issuances.

Governance

Following the Transaction, CDPQ will be Alstom’s largest shareholder. CDPQ will have the right to appoint
a censor and two directors to Alstom’s Board of Directors for so long as its equity investment is equal to or
greater than the lower of the following two percentages: (x) the percentage of the share capital that it holds
following the Completion Date, and (y) 19.80%. Its representation will be limited to two directors if its
equity investment is between 12.50% (inclusive) and the percentage of its equity investment in the share
capital following completion of the Transaction (exclusive) and to one director if its equity investment in
the share capital is between 7.50% (inclusive) and 12.50% (exclusive).

One of the directors appointed by CDPQ will also be a member of the audit committee for so long as CDPQ
holds more than 12.50% of Alstom’s share capital (it being specified that the Company will continue to
comply with the AFEP-MEDEF Code’s recommendations regarding the composition of the audit
committee, which might, as necessary, be modified so as to ensure such appointment complies with the
AFEP-MEDEF Code.

In addition, an integration committee charged with facilitating and overseeing the process of integrating
Bombardier Transportation into the Alstom Group will be formed and remain in existence for two years
following the Completion Date. The integration committee will be composed of two independent directors
chosen from among the independent directors on Alstom’s Board of Directors and one director appointed
by CDPQ. This committee will constitute a committee of the Board of Directors within the meaning of
Article 5 of the internal rules of Alstom’s Board of Directors.

CDPQ’s right to information
In the event that Alstom is contemplating a one-off distribution of shares, it has undertaken to inform CDPQ

at least 30 days before submitting its proposal, in order to give CDPQ the opportunity to reduce its equity
investment in the share capital to below 20%, if it so desires.
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This informational right must be exercised in compliance with applicable regulation with regard to market
abuse.

Term of the CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement

The CDPQ Reinvestment Agreement has been entered into for a term of twenty years and will be
automatically extended for additional five-year terms unless either party terminates by written notice to the
other party at least six months prior to the end of the term in progress. Early termination is provided for in
the event that the Acquisition Agreement is terminated, that an event occurs that makes it impossible to
satisfy the conditions precedent prior to the end of the Condition Precedent Satisfaction Period, or that a
tender offer is filed that is recommended by Alstom’s Board of Directors prior to the Completion Date. In
this last case, the amounts due by Alstom under the Acquisition Agreement would be paid in cash.

(c) Governance of the combined entity
Bouygues is supporting the Transaction and made the following commitments on 17 February 2020:

- To remain a shareholder of Alstom and not to transfer the Alstom shares that Bouygues S.A.
holds as of 17 February 2020 without Alstom’s approval until the first of the following dates:
(i) the date of the General Meeting, and (ii) 31 October 2020;

- To vote for the resolutions proposed to Alstom’s shareholders at the General Meeting in order
to approve the Transaction;

- Subject to compliance with applicable laws and with the directors’ obligations, to ensure that
its representatives on Alstom’s Board of Directors vote in favour of any decision necessary in
order to implement the Transaction.

The resolutions relating to the appointment of directors representing CDPQ will be submitted for a
shareholders’ vote at the General Meeting, subject to the condition precedent of the completion of the
Transaction.

It should be noted that, in accordance with the French law on the recovery of the real economy (the
“Florange Law”) of 29 March 2014, double voting rights are granted automatically to shares held in
registered form for at least two years in any company whose shares are traded on a regulated market, unless
the company’s articles of association provide otherwise in a provision adopted after passage of the law.
Since Alstom’s articles of association do not contain such a provision, double voting rights have been
automatic since 31 March 2016.

In connection with the Transaction, it is proposed to add a provision to Alstom’s articles of association
eliminating double voting rights, subject to the condition precedent of completion of the Transaction and
effective as of the Completion Date. Resolutions proposing this change will be presented at the special
shareholders’ meeting of the holders of shares with double voting rights and at the General Meeting.

The articles of association will include all of the changes submitted for the approval of Alstom’s

shareholders in connection with the General Meeting that would be applicable following completion of the
Transaction on the Completion Date (as set forth in Annex 7 to this Amendment).
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2. RISK FACTORS

The “Covid-19 (*)” risk factor included in the “Operational and strategic risks” section of Chapter 4 of the
Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is amended as follows:

Covid-19 (*)

The Alstom group does business in numerous countries that have been significantly affected by the Covid-
19 epidemic and is carefully monitoring the situation while taking the necessary action to protect its
employees, suppliers, and subcontractors, as well as to reduce the economic and financial impacts of this
unprecedented crisis.

The principal risk factors identified as of the date hereof include, but are not limited to, the following:

e Temporary or long-term production-line disturbances in the various countries affected by the
epidemic;

e The impact on rail traffic;
o Impacts on the health and work output of the Group’s employees and service providers; and

e The long-term impacts of the reduction in government investment in the context of a foreseeable
global economic crisis and a strong increase in government debt, affecting the number and timing
of the customers’ Group’s investment projects.

The expected impacts may be of multiple kinds, ranging from the health of the Group’s employees,
subcontractors, and suppliers to the partial or total shutdown of production plants, which may result in
delays in contract performance and the postponement or even the cancellation of decisions to award
contracts following calls for bids.

As of the publication date of this Amendment, the Group notes that:

e Its principal production plants in France, Italy, Spain, South Africa, the Middle East, Central Asia,
and India were forced to suspend operations or had their operations severely affected in the spring
of 2020. The resumption of operations was planned based on the end dates of the lockdowns
ordered by the various countries involved and has been on-going since the end of April 2020;

e The majority of its suppliers were also forced to shut down and began progressively reopening in
late April 2020; and

e Alstom’s operations had returned to nearly normal levels in September 2020, excluding the
structural decrease in the systems activity.

However, the Group cannot rule out the possibility that Alstom’s sites or its suppliers’ sites may be forced
to reduce or cease operations once more in the future, in particular in the event of a “second wave” of Covid
infections in the countries where the Group is present.

Since the beginning of the 2020/2021 fiscal year, the Covid-19 crisis has weighed on market dynamics and
therefore order prospects, where the Group has seen slippage to the second half of the fiscal year. The extent
of the negative impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the financial performance of the 2020/21 fiscal year will
depend on the conditions and timing of a return to normal business activity, which the Group cannot predict
as of the date of this Amendment. A business upside will depend on the evolution of the Covid-19 crisis,
including the length of the lockdown measures, the intensity of the economic recession and the market’s
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response. Following the current crisis, the Group expects a rebound in the rail market, supported by solid
fundamentals and increased demand for sustainable mobility solutions.

See Section 6, “Market Trends,” of this Amendment for an assessment of the impacts of Covid-19 on the
prospects for market growth, as well as the notes to the financial statements and the management report
included in the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 and the results of operations for the first quarter
of the 2020/21 fiscal year, described in Section 5 of this Amendment, “Financial information about the
Company for the first quarter of the 2020/21 fiscal year published on 16 July 2020,” for an assessment of
the financial impacts of the crisis on the Group’s financial statements.

The section of Chapter 4 of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 entitled “Risks relating to
acquisitions, disposals and other external growth transactions” is hereby amended and supplemented as
follows:

Risks relating to the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation (*)
Risks relating to a failure to complete the Acquisition

If the Acquisition is not completed because the Acquisition Agreement is terminated, in particular due to
the failure to satisfy any of the conditions precedent (see Section 1, “Description of the Transaction to
Acquire Bombardier Tramsportation,” of this Amendment), Alstom’s day-to-day activities could be
adversely affected, and Alstom could face a certain number of risks including the following:

- It could be required, under certain circumstances, to pay a termination fee (or “break fee”) to
Bombardier Inc. and to CDPQ in an aggregate amount which may be increased to a maximum of
€200 million under certain circumstances contemplated under the Acquisition Agreement (see
“Description of the Transaction” for an explanation of these termination fees);

- It may have incurred and may continue to incur significant costs in the context of the proposed
Acquisition (which will be at a loss if the Acquisition is not completed); the estimated amounts of
the costs incurred by Alstom as of the date of this Amendment are set forth in point 5(a) of Section
3, “Pro Forma Financial Information as of 31 March 2020,” of the Amendment;

- It may experience the effects of a negative reaction in the financial markets, and in particular a
negative effect on Alstom’s share price, which may have gone up in anticipation of the
Transaction’s expected benefits;

- It may experience negative reactions from customers, regulatory authorities and employees; and
- Alstom’s management and teams may have allocated significant time and resources to issues
relating to the Acquisition that could otherwise have been allocated to day-to-day transactions and
other opportunities from which Alstom could have benefited.
In addition, Alstom could be subject to litigation resulting from any failure to complete the Acquisition. If

the Acquisition does not take place, the occurrence of these risks could have a material adverse effect on
Alstom’s business, financial position, results, prospects, and share price.
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Completion of the Acquisition remains subject to the satisfaction of a number of conditions
precedent (or to Alstom’s waiver of them); if these conditions are not satisfied or are satisfied
late, there could be an adverse effect on Alstom

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to several conditions precedent (see “Description of the
Transaction”), some of which are outside the control of Alstom, Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ. No
assurances can be given that the conditions precedent to the Acquisition will be satisfied or waived on a
timely basis or at all. Any failure to satisfy or delay in satisfying the conditions precedent could prevent or
delay completion of the Acquisition, which would reduce the synergies and benefits that Alstom expects to
achieve from the Acquisition and from the integration of Bombardier Transportation’s business into its
own.

In particular, the Acquisition is subject to the approval of competition and regulatory authorities in the
European Union, the United States, China, and other jurisdictions. The relevant authorities could impose
measures or conditions, such as requiring the disposal of assets or businesses (which could be significant)
belonging to Alstom and/or Bombardier Transportation, and no assurance can be given that Alstom,
Bombardier Inc., and CDPQ will obtain the necessary authorisations, decisions and approvals from those
authorities. Although the European Commission has authorised the Acquisition subject to compliance with
the commitments proposed by Alstom, there can be no certainty that the same outcome will be reached with
respect to the other competent competition authorities. Therefore, despite the commitments that Alstom has
proposed, the relevant authorities could condition their authorisations, decisions, or approvals on significant
additional measures that Alstom and/or Bombardier Inc. may not be able to agree to. In any event, any
conditions or disposals required by these authorities (as well as any conditions, including financial
conditions, to such disposals) could have a material adverse impact on Alstom’s business, operating results,
financial position, expected synergies from the Acquisition, prospects, and share price.

The Acquisition is also subject to approval by the extraordinary general meeting of Alstom’s shareholders
of the resolutions relating to the Transaction, and in particular those relating to the capital increases reserved
for Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ), as well as the capital increase with preservation of preferential subscription
rights.

Risk relating to Bombardier Transportation’s performance and unexpected liabilities

Bombardier Transportation faces financial and operational difficulties, resulting in lower margins than
Alstom’s (including adjusted operating margin rate of 0.8% for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2019
and of 2.4% and (25.9%), respectively, in the first and second quarters of 2020, as compared with Alstom’s
adjusted operating margin rate of 7.7% for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2020). Its earnings targets were
revised downward in connection with the profit warning issued on 16 January 2020, when Bombardier Inc.
announced its fourth quarter 2019 results; in particular, available cash flow, on a consolidated basis over
Bombardier Inc.’s scope of consolidation, was estimated at approximately $1 billion, or close to $650
million lower than forecast. In its six-month report for the first half of 2020, dated 6 August 2020,
Bombardier Inc. indicated that Bombardier Transportation’s operating income had decreased by $577
million (not taking into account the negative impact of exchange rates) as compared with the first half of
2019. Revenues for the second quarter of 2020 totalled $1.479 billion, reflecting a decline in production,
while operating activities conducted at the main facilities in Europe and in the Americas have been
temporarily suspended due to the Covid-19 global pandemic. In addition, Bombardier Transportation's
adjusted loss before financing expenses, financing income and income tax (EBIT) of $(383) million for the
second quarter of 2020 was significantly greater than expected and reflected an additional $435 million
charge during the period, largely related to incremental engineering, certification, and retrofit costs
associated with a number of late-stage projects, primarily in Britain and Germany. Following publication
of these half-year results, the terms of the Acquisition Agreement were adapted to reflect Bombardier
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Transportation’s current situation. Bombardier Transportation’s performance and operating and financial
indicators could continue to deteriorate, in particular in light of the on-going Covid-19 pandemic, and there
can be no assurance that the improvement in Bombardier Transportation’s performance that was expected
as of the date the Acquisition was announced will be realised, which would have a material adverse effect
on Alstom’s results, cash flows, profitability, and financial condition following completion of the
Acquisition.

In addition, Alstom conducted limited due diligence on Bombardier Transportation before entering into the
memorandum of understanding on 17 February 2020 and the Acquisition Agreement (including certain due
diligence measures conducted prior to executing the Acquisition Agreement). Alstom cannot guarantee that
the documents and information provided during the due diligence process were complete, adequate or
accurate and, as a result, that the due diligence work identified or assessed all of Bombardier
Transportation’s potential material issues, risks and liabilities. As a result, following completion of the
Acquisition, unanticipated operational difficulties and/or significant unanticipated liabilities of Bombardier
Transportation may arise and have a negative effect on Alstom’s profitability, operating results, financial
position, market capitalisation, and share price, which difficulties and/or liabilities might have been
identified by Alstom if more exhaustive diligence had been conducted. Similarly, operating difficulties or
other risks identified in due diligence could ultimately prove to be insufficiently provisioned or be more
significant than initially anticipated, or Alstom may not be in a position to remedy such difficulties, which
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results, cash flows, profitability, financial position and
reputation.

The principal subjects in that regard identified during due diligence include the following:

- Operational problems in certain complex projects (in particular in the United Kingdom and in
Germany), which have led to additional costs and delays in development and production, quality
problems, and claims and disputes from customers;

- The expiration of material contracts in the short or medium term, including with respect to
collaborations and joint ventures (with a risk of non-renewal);

- The identification of certain tax risks and the existence of various types of litigation and other
proceedings (see also the risk factor in this section entitled “Allegations of misconduct by
Bombardier Transportation or its third-party business partners could expose Alstom to a risk of
loss or reputational damage”);

- Certain initiatives for financing working capital (including the sale of receivables and arrangements
with respect to third-party advances) in significant amounts; and

- The level of funding of pension obligations.

Moreover, the provisions on indemnification of Alstom in connection with the Acquisition, including with
respect to the specific risks identified during the due diligence conducted prior to signing the Memorandum
of Understanding, are subject to quantitative limits under the Acquisition Agreement (Alstom’s claims may
be indemnified only, inter alia, (i) to the extent that they collectively represent claims of at least €25 million,
and (ii) up to a €100 million cap, with the exception of claims relating to breaches of fundamental
representations and warranties—relating in particular to share ownership, the sellers’ capacity, their
incorporation, the approval of governmental authorities, and the absence of insolvency proceedings—for
which the cap is equal to the Acquisition Price) and/or time limits (the standard prescriptive period for the
fundamental representations and warranties, and two years for claims relating to breaches of other
warranties or for tax or compliance indemnification), and no assurance can be given that they would
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effectively cover all of the liabilities relating to Bombardier Transportation that may appear following the
Acquisition, or the liabilities known as of that date but that may subsequently worsen.

Risks relating to the integration of Bombardier Transportation’s activities and failure to achieve
expected synergies

The expected benefits of the proposed Acquisition will partly depend upon the successful integration of
Bombardier Transportation’s activities into the Group’s. The Acquisition will involve the integration of
two complex, significantly sized companies that currently conduct a vast range of activities and function
independently, one of which operates within a larger group. The companies could face significant
difficulties when an integration plan is implemented, some of which may have been unforeseeable or are
outside of Alstom’s and Bombardier Transportation’s control, notably with respect to differences in
standards, controls, procedures and rules, corporate culture, the history of technological investments,
organisation of the Group and Bombardier Transportation, and the need to integrate and harmonise the
various operating systems and procedures that are specific to each group, such as financial and accounting
systems and other IT systems.

In that regard, Alstom could have difficulty retaining some of its key employees or those of Bombardier
Transportation. In connection with the integration process, Alstom will have to resolve problems inherent
to the management and integration of a larger number of employees with different experience, backgrounds,
compensation structures, and cultures, which could impede its ability to manage its business as expected.

In addition, the integration process will be long and complex and will require significant time and resources.
This could draw management’s attention and resources away from other strategic opportunities and from
day-to-day operations during the integration process. Integration efforts may also lead to significant costs,
which could have a material adverse effect on Alstom’s financial position, operating results, and share
price. Any failure in the planned integration could have a negative impact on Alstom’s business, financial
position, profitability, and prospects. Due to competition law constraints, the integration process did not
begin prior to the recent signature of the Acquisition Agreement, which increases the current risk of
complications and delays in the process. In addition, significant costs and investments could be necessary
to integrate Bombardier Transportation’s technology. Furthermore, the integration of Bombardier
Transportation’s business with Alstom’s could result in the cancellation of certain orders in the backlog of
both companies, as some customers currently present in the backlogs of both companies may wish to
diversify. Moreover, the integration of Bombardier Transportation’s business in China, including through
a joint venture, will increase Alstom’s exposure to foreign exchange risk between the euro and the Chinese
yuan (see also the risk factor entitled “Financial Risks” in the Universal Registration Document 2019/20).

Finally, although Alstom expects the Acquisition to create significant value through the synergies realised
in the medium and long term and significant cost synergies (see Section 1.1.2, “Description of the
Transaction—Advantages of the Transaction for Alstom and its shareholders” of this Amendment), there
can be no assurance of the existence or achievement of these synergies within the expected time frames, as
the realisation and extent of any synergies depend on a number of factors and assumptions, many of which
are outside of Alstom’s and Bombardier Transportation’s control. Any delay in completing the Transaction,
as well as the health situation relating to Covid-19, could affect realisation of the expected synergies. In
addition, costs incurred in view of obtaining these synergies may be higher than expected or additional
unexpected costs that may even exceed the value of the expected synergies could arise, leading to a loss of
shareholder value. The failure to achieve expected synergies and/or an increase in the costs incurred in this
regard could decrease Alstom’s return on its investment and diminish the Acquisition’s value creation
(including for Alstom’s shareholders) and, more generally, have a material adverse impact on Alstom’s
activities, operating results, financial position, prospects, and share price.
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Risk relating to triggering change of control provisions

Bombardier Transportation is a party to multiple agreements with customers, suppliers, joint-venture
partners (such as in China) and consortia, as well as to financing agreements, some of which contain change
of control provisions. Some of these provisions could be triggered by the Acquisition, since Bombardier
Inc. will no longer be Bombardier Transportation’s controlling shareholder. Triggering these provisions
could result in a loss of contractual rights and benefits, or could lead to the triggering of other provisions,
such as call options and/or put options relating to shares held by Bombardier Transportation, or to the
termination or renegotiation of agreements. Although Bombardier Inc. has undertaken in the Acquisition
Agreement to attempt to obtain the consent of the counterparties to certain particularly important
agreements (including certain joint-venture agreements, as well as financing agreements in connection with
customer contracts) prior to the completion of the Acquisition, the Acquisition Agreement does not contain
a condition precedent relating to contracts with change of control provisions. Following the Acquisition,
Bombardier Transportation could therefore lose the benefit of some of these contracts if the counterparties
concerned were to terminate them or negotiate more onerous financial terms in order to grant their consent.
This could have a material adverse effect on Alstom’s financial condition, results of operations, prospects,
and share price.

Risks of disputes relating to the Acquisition

In connection with the Acquisition or as a result of it, Alstom could face new claims and disputes, in
particular by customers, commercial partners, suppliers, shareholders, or bondholders of the Alstom group
or of the Bombardier Inc. group. Such disputes could delay or prevent the completion of the Acquisition
(see “Risk relating to a failure to complete the Acquisition”) and/or have an adverse effect on Alstom’s
share price, financial condition, results, or prospects.

Allegations of misconduct by Bombardier Transportation or its third-party business partners
could expose Alstom to a risk of loss or reputational damage.

Global enforcement of anti-corruption laws has increased substantially in recent years, with numerous
large-scale, extraterritorial investigations and enforcement proceedings by governmental authorities,
resulting in assessment of significant fines and penalties against companies and individuals. The nature of
the business conducted by Alstom and Bombardier Transportation creates the risk of unlawful payments or
offers of payments by their employees, consultants or agents. For example, in 2014, Alstom pleaded guilty
to criminal charges brought by the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) relating to corruption matters
involving a since-exited business and paid a fine of approximately $770 million. See Alstom’s 2019
Universal Registration Document, Chapter 4, “Legal and Regulatory Risks — Legal and Compliance Risks”.
Bombardier Transportation is currently the subject of an audit of the World Bank Integrity Vice Presidency
(“INT”) and participating in several investigations relating to allegations of corruption including by the
Swedish Prosecution Authority, the Special Investigating Unit (“SIU”) in South Africa and the DOJ .

The principal matter under investigation is in relation to a 2013 contract for the supply of equipment and
services to Azerbaijan Railways in the amount of approximately $340 million (principally financed by the
World Bank) awarded to a bidding consortium composed of Bombardier Transportation’s Swedish
subsidiary (“BT Sweden”), a Russian Bombardier Transportation affiliate (with third party shareholders)
and a third party (the “ADY Contract”). Ownership of the affiliate was subsequently transferred to an entity
well-established in the Russian and CIS market with which BT Sweden had an historical relationship, and
an affiliate of which had been added post-bid approval as a project subcontractor. There remains
uncertainty as to the services provided by these entities in return for some of the payments they received;
Bombardier’s internal review regarding the ADY Contract is still on-going.
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Swedish authorities commenced an investigation in relation to the ADY Contract in 2016 and in 2017 filed
charges against the former Head of Sales, Region North, Rail Control Solutions, BT Sweden (the “former
BTS employee”) for aggravated bribery and, alternatively, influence trafficking. The authorities alleged
that the former BTS employee had contacts and correspondence with a representative of the third party
member of the consortium who was also employed by Azerbaijan Railways during the bidding period with
a view towards illicitly influencing the outcome of the tender. After a trial the former BTS employee was
acquitted on both counts in October 2017; the authorities appealed the decision and as of today only the
aggravated bribery charge is pending. Although no charges have been filed against BT Sweden to date, the
Swedish authorities were investigating other former BT Sweden employees and made mutual legal
assistance treaty requests to authorities in numerous jurisdictions. The Swedish authorities recently
concluded the investigations of the other former BT Sweden employees and it is still possible that they may
file charges against one of them or make claims.

The World Bank audited the ADY Contract and in November 2018 the INT issued a (strictly confidential)
“show cause” letter to Bombardier, which was leaked. The letter outlines the INT’s position regarding
alleged collusion, corruption, and fraud in the ADY Contract and obstruction of the INT’s investigation.
The audit could result in some form of debarment of Bombardier Transportation and BT Sweden from
bidding on contracts financed by the World Bank (and other development banks that have mutual
enforcement arrangements in place with the World Bank) for a number of years.

Finally, and as disclosed by Bombardier in its first half 2020 financial statements, on February 10, 2020,
the DOJ notified Bombardier that it had opened an investigation. In response to its requests, since March
Bombardier has been voluntarily providing documents and information to the DOJ regarding the ADY
Contract and may be doing so in the near-term in relation to other projects in CIS countries. The DOJ has
indicated that it may request information regarding other matters and jurisdictions as part of its ongoing
investigation.

Bombardier Transportation South Africa’s contract to supply locomotives to Transnet Freight Rail is among
numerous matters under investigation by the Judicial Commission of Inquiry into Allegations of State
Capture (the “Zondo Commission”) and by the Special Investigating Unit in South Africa. Bombardier
Transportation has been providing information to the SIU and the matter remains pending.

In connection with the Acquisition, Alstom undertook a due diligence review of the pending investigations
involving Bombardier Transportation as well as its compliance program and internal controls. Although
Alstom has obtained a number of contractual protections in the Acquisition to mitigate perceived risks in
this respect they may be insufficient to mitigate the financial consequences or to mitigate reputational,
operational (e.g., eligibility to participate in public procurement processes) or other indirect, negative
consequences that could be incurred by Alstom (including as a result of potential vicarious or successor
liability) following the Acquisition.

Risk relating to the transition period between the announcement of the planned Acquisition and
its completion

During the transition period between the announcement of the Acquisition and its completion, the
Acquisition will be subject to significant uncertainty that could have a negative effect on relationships with
certain customers (and in particular with potential customers in connection with calls for tenders), strategic
partners, and employees of both Alstom and Bombardier Transportation. Some strategic partners, suppliers,
or customers may decide to delay operational or strategic decisions pending greater certainty as to whether
the Transaction will be completed. The Acquisition could convince customers of Alstom and/or of
Bombardier Transportation to work with other players in the sector or could have a negative effect on
Alstom’s and/or Bombardier Transportation’s relations with their customers. Such negative effects on the
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companies’ relationships could have a negative impact on Alstom’s revenue, profits, cash flows from
operating activities, and share price.

Risk relating to future operating results and financial condition presented in the combined pro
forma financial information

The unaudited combined pro forma financial information® as of and for the fiscal year ended 31 March
2020 included in this Amendment was prepared to illustrate the impact of the Acquisition and the related
financing transactions as if they had taken place on 31 March 2020 (with respect to the balance sheet) or 1
April 2019 (with respect to the income statement). This unaudited combined pro forma financial
information is based on preliminary estimates and assumptions that Alstom believes are reasonable and that
are provided for illustrative purposes only. The estimates and assumptions used to prepare the unaudited
combined pro forma financial information set forth in this document may differ substantially from the
Group’s current and future results of operations. As a result, the unaudited combined pro forma financial
information included in this document is not intended to indicate the results of operations that would
actually have been achieved if the transactions had been completed on the assumed date or during the
periods presented, or that may be recorded in the future. In addition, the unaudited combined pro forma
financial information reflects no events other than those mentioned in such unaudited combined pro forma
financial information and the notes thereto.

Moreover, by definition, the unaudited combined pro forma financial information included in this
Amendment covers only information of an accounting nature (to the exclusion of non-accounting
information, such as backlog). Differences in the ways Bombardier Transportation and Alstom calculate
this indicator (including accounting for financing obtained for the relevant project) could lead to downward
adjustments in the indicators used by Bombardier Transportation following the Acquisition.

Furthermore, there may be differences between the accounting methods used by Bombardier Transportation
and those used by Alstom. Alstom and Bombardier have not been able to share the relevant information
necessary to make reliable estimates and are not able to identify, estimate, and record all of the relevant
adjustments in the unaudited combined pro forma financial information.

The combined pro forma financial information has not been audited by Alstom’s statutory auditors and is
based (in addition to Alstom’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal year ended
31 March 2020) on information prepared by Bombardier Transportation for the period from 1 April 2019
through 31 March 2020, namely, for the income statement, on its annual financial statements for the 12-
month fiscal year ended 31 December 2019, from which items relating to the first quarter of 2019 were
removed and to which items relating to the first quarter of 2020 were added.

Finally, Bombardier Inc. and Bombardier Transportation have published more recent financial information,
including Bombardier Transportation’s half-year financial statements as of 30 June 2020 and an analysis
of the results of operations of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation segment in its half-year financial report
published on 6 August 2020, which presents more recent and more detailed information about Bombardier
Transportation.

As a result, investors should not place undue reliance on the unaudited combined pro forma financial
information set forth in this Amendment, which, beyond its illustrative nature, may not accurately reflect

2 The pro forma financial information was the subject of ad hoc due diligence procedures and of a report by Alstom’s
statutory auditors pursuant to Annex 20, section 3, to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980.
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the current or future performance of the combined group. See “Unaudited Combined Pro Forma Financial
Information as of 31 March 2020.”

Risk relating to Alstom’s recording of significant goodwill

As a result of the Acquisition, Alstom will record significant goodwill consisting of the excess of the
acquisition cost of Bombardier Transportation over the fair value of its net assets on the acquisition date.
For the purposes of the unaudited combined pro forma financial information as of 31 March 2020,
provisional goodwill of €6,162 million was recorded following completion of the Acquisition. This amount
is provisional, and the final amount will be calculated at its fair value on the acquisition date. The final
amount of goodwill recorded in Alstom’s next consolidated financial statements could be significantly
different. See Note 4.2 to the unaudited combined pro forma financial information as of 31 March 2020 (in
Annex 10 “Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information as of 31 March 2020 to this
Amendment).

Furthermore, after the final amount of goodwill is recorded, Alstom could subsequently encounter
unexpected problems in connection with the acquired activities, or market conditions could deteriorate,
which could negatively affect their anticipated productivity or the value of their intangible assets and lead
to impairment of the goodwill recorded and the recoverable value of intangible assets for a given activity.

Goodwill is valued annually and whenever a change in circumstances indicates that its book value may not
be recoverable, in order to determine whether there has been impairment. Impairment testing consists of
comparing the recoverable amount of a fixed asset (or of a cash-generating unit) with its net book value.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of sale and value in use. Value in use is used to
represent recoverable amount. Value in use is determined by discounting future cash flows to present value,
using projected cash flows over the next three years consistent with the Group’s internal plan, an
extrapolation of the following two years, and the most recent forecasts prepared by the Group. If the
recoverable amount of an asset or of a cash-generating unit (CGU) is lower than its book value, impairment
is recorded as an operating expense on the income statement. If the management team’s projections or
assumptions (such as the discount rate after tax, long-term growth rate, and adjusted operating margin for
the final year) change, the estimate of the recoverable amount of goodwill or of the asset could decrease
significantly and result in impairment. Although impairment does not affect cash flow recorded, a decrease
in the estimated recoverable amount and the corresponding expense recorded in the income statement could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations, financial condition, and share price.

Risks relating to the financing of the Acquisition

Alstom has secured financing for the portion of the Acquisition Price payable in cash through a bridge loan
in the amount of €2.4 billion, entered into with a syndicate of international banks (see Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 in the Universal
Registration Document 2019/20 for a detailed description of the financing). Alstom currently plans to carry
out a capital increase with preferential subscription rights in an approximate amount of €2 billion, as well
as one or more bond issuances in a total amount of approximately €400 million, prior to completion of the
Acquisition, and, therefore, not to draw down funds under the bridge loan. In the event that for reasons
beyond its control (such as market conditions, execution windows, etc.), Alstom is unable to proceed with
the currently planned financing transactions (i.e., the capital increase and the bond issuance) prior to
completion of the Acquisition, it would be forced to draw down funds under the bridge loan in order to
make cash payment for Bombardier Transportation’s shares. This would significantly increase its financing
costs as well as the Group’s total indebtedness and leverage ratio.
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If the Planned Capital Increase is not completed prior to the Completion Date or is completed but for less
than the currently expected gross proceeds of €2 billion, then an existing “bridge” loan will be drawn in an
amount corresponding to the shortfall. If the bridge loan is drawn down for the entire €2 billion, the result
would be a €6 million decrease in net profit compared to net profit as reported in the Unaudited Pro Forma
Condensed Combined Financial Information (corresponding to the additional interest expense over the 12-
month period) for the 12-month period ended 31 March 2020, before tax. For example, on this basis, if the
Planned Capital Increase were to occur six months after the Completion Date, the cost relating to the
drawdown of the loan would be €3 million.

Similarly, if the bond issuance is not completed prior to the Completion Date or is completed but for less
than the currently expected gross proceeds of €400 million, then the existing “bridge” loan will be drawn
in an amount corresponding to the shortfall. That drawdown would have no impact on financial expense
compared to financial expense as reported in the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial
Information (see Section 3 “Pro Forma Financial Information as of 31 March 2020” of this Amendment),
because the financial interest on the bonds and the bridge loan is similar. The preliminary ratio of net debt
to EBITDA calculated on the basis of the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial
Information as of 31 March 2021 in the event of drawdown of the bridge loan would temporarily reach
approximately 1.9x, as compared with negative net leverage in the event that the Planned Capital Increase
is carried out prior to the Completion Date.

Risks relating to Alstom’s post-Transaction shareholder base and to the sale of a significant
number of Alstom shares

Bouygues S.A. completed its sale of 13% of Alstom’s share capital on 11 September 2019 and announced
on 29 September 2020 that it would dispose of around 4.8% of the Company’s share capital in a forward
sale to be completed on 3 November 2020 (with a lockup for the benefit of BNP Paribas until 29 December
2020). The sale of a significant number of Alstom shares on the market, or the market’s perception that
such a sale may occur, could decrease Alstom’s share price or limit its capacity to grow. Bouygues S.A.
has undertaken to retain its voting rights relating to the Alstom shares that it held as of 17 February 2020
until earlier of the following dates: (i) the date of the General Meeting and (ii) 31 October 2020.

In addition, Bombardier Inc. and CDPQ, which will be significant shareholders of Alstom following the
Transaction, are required pursuant to the Bombardier Reinvestment Agreement and the CDPQ Investment
Agreement to retain their shares for a lockup period of three and 21 months, respectively, following the
Completion Date (see Section 1.2.2 of this Amendment). Upon expiration of these lockups, or prior to their
expiration in the event that Alstom releases them from their commitments, Bouygues S.A., Bombardier
Inc., and CDPQ will be free to sell all or part of their equity investment on the market and to carry out the
transactions referred to above, which could have a material adverse effect on Alstom’s share price.

Tax risks relating to the Transaction

The completion of the Acquisition and the subsequent reorganisation transactions could lead to adverse tax
consequences.

The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation UK2’s shares could result in adverse tax consequences for
the Alstom group and certain Bombardier Transportation entities (such as (i) the imposition of stamp taxes
or transfer taxes; (ii) a loss of or limit on the right to use certain tax assets such as tax losses; and/or (iii)
the taxation of certain capital gains).

More generally, the Alstom group’s organisation following the business combination and reorganisation
transactions that may be carried out in order to rationalise the structure of the combined group and to
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facilitate the integration of the businesses of Alstom and Bombardier Transportation could result in tax
inefficiencies and/or additional tax costs (such as tax costs relating to the reorganisations conducted to
facilitate the integration, an inability or delay in the ability to create local tax consolidation groups between
the Alstom and Bombardier Transportation entities in certain countries, transfer pricing policy, etc.).

These considerations could result in an increase in Alstom’s tax charges and have a negative effect on its
effective tax rate, its results of operations, and/or its financial condition.
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3. PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF 31 MARCH 2020

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information as of 31 March 2020 is attached in
Annex 10 to this Amendment.
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4.  DESCRIPTION OF BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
4.1 Description of Bombardier Transportation’s business

A description of Bombardier Transportation’s business, as set forth in Bombardier Inc.’s annual financial
report, is attached as Annex 9.A. to this Amendment.

4.2 Bombardier Transportation financial information

The financial information presented in this section includes (i) the consolidated financial statements of
Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited, a company owned by Bombardier
Transportation UK2, as of and for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, which were audited
by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding)
UK Limited’s independent auditor, (ii) Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s
condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended 31 March 2020
and condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020,
which were reviewed by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft in its capacity as
Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s independent auditor; and (iii) excerpts from
Bombardier Inc.’s management report with respect to the Transportation segment (the “Transportation
Segment Management Report”) as prepared by Bombardier Inc. for the corresponding periods and
published pursuant to its disclosure obligations as a company admitted to trading on the Toronto Stock
Exchange (TSX) in Canada. The above-mentioned excerpts from the Transportation Segment Management
Report include the information related to Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation segment, with the exception of
specific information on Bombardier Inc.’s Aviation segment as well as certain forward-looking
information, market information and interim information within annual results, and certain non-GAAP
financial measures.

1t is specified that, in the context of the Transaction, Alstom Holdings will purchase 100% of Bombardier
Transportation’s shares, which is Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s holding
company. Therefore, in addition to the assets and liabilities of Bombardier Transportation (Global
Holding) UK Limited, the Acquisition will result in the transfer of certain assets and liabilities of
Bombardier Transportation UK2 to Alstom Holdings. These assets and liabilities represent €2 million in
cash and cash equivalents, 1 million in other current liabilities and nil on net result. No significant off-
balance sheet commitments of Bombardier Transportation UK2 will be transferred to Alstom Holdings in
connection with the Transaction.

Alstom did not review or conduct any audit of this financial information, which is provided solely for
information purposes, and, as such, Alstom may not be held liable for the accuracy and completeness of
the financial information.

4.2.1 Bombardier Transportation’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019

Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated financial statements as of and for
the fiscal years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, as well as the independent auditor’s reports of
Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s independent auditor on those financial
statements are set forth, respectively, in Annex 8.A. and in Annex 8.B. to this Amendment.
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4.2.2 Analysis of the results of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation segment for the fiscal
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019

The relevant excerpts of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation Segment Management Report for the fiscal years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 are attached in Annex 9.B. to this Amendment.

4.2.3 Bombardier Transportation’s condensed interim consolidated financial statements
as of and for the three months ended 31 March 2020

Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s condensed interim consolidated financial
statements as of and for the three months ended 31 March 2020, as well as the review report of Bombardier
Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s independent auditor, are set forth in Annex 8.C. to this
Amendment.

4.2.4 Analysis of the results of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation segment for the period
ended 31 March 2020

The relevant excerpts of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation Segment Management Report for the quarter
ended 31 March 2020 are attached in Annex 9.C. to this Amendment.

4.2.5 Bombardier Transportation’s condensed interim consolidated financial statements
as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020

Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s condensed interim consolidated financial
statements as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020, as well as the review report of Bombardier
Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s independent auditor are set forth in Annex 8.D. to this
Amendment.

4.2.6 Analysis of the results of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation segment for the period
ended 30 June 2020

The relevant excerpts of Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation Segment Management Report for the six months
and three months ended 30 June 2020 are attached in Annex 9.D. to this Amendment.

4.2.7 Reconciliation between Bombardier Transportation’s consolidated financial
statements and the financial information on Bombardier Inc.’s Transportation
segment

The Annexes to the Amendment include (i) Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s
consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, as well
as its condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended 31 March
2020 and as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020 (see points 4.2.1, 4.2.3 and 4.2.5 of this section);
and (i1) certain excerpts from the Transportation Segment Management Report prepared by Bombardier
Inc. (see points 4.2.2, 4.2.4, and 4.2.6 of this section).

The Transportation Segment Management Report presents and analyses the revenues and EBIT of the
Transportation segment based on the information for that segment included in Note 5 to Bombardier Inc.’s
consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, and in
Note 3 to Bombardier Inc.’s interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended
31 March 2020 and as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020 (the “Segment Information for the
Transportation Segment”). The Transportation Segment Management Report does not rely on
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Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s separate consolidated financial statements
attached in the Annexes hereto; therefore, a quantitative reconciliation of the revenues and EBIT presented
in the Transportation Segment Management Report and those presented in Bombardier Transportation
(Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated financial statements is provided below.

The consolidated financial statements of Bombardier Transportation and of Bombardier Inc. were prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). As shown in the tables below, the most significant difference is the
currency in which the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Bombardier Inc.’s consolidated
financial statements use the U.S. dollar, whereas Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK
Limited’s consolidated financial statements use the euro. Other, less significant, differences relating to
EBIT are also presented below.

Reconciliation of revenues

Quarter ended
Fiscal year ended 31
31 December March 30 June

In millions 2018 2019 2020 2020
Total revenues in the Segment Information for the Transportation

Sector (presented in U.S. dollars)? 8,915 8,269 2,169 1479
Total revenues in the Segment Information for the Transportation

Sector converted into euros* 7,541 7,383 1,968 1345

Revenues as presented in Bombardier Transportation (Global
Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated statement of income (in
euros)’ 7,541 7,383 1,968 1345

3 As presented in Note 5 to Bombardier Inc.’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018, and in Note 3 to Bombardier Inc.’s consolidated financial statements for the quarters
ended 31 March 2020 and 30 June 2020.
4 On the basis of a EUR/USD exchange rate of:

- 1.18224 for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018;

- 1.12002 for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2019;

- 1.10241 for the quarter ended 31 March 2020; and

- 1.10130 for the six months ended 30 June 2020.
5 As presented in Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated statement of income for
the fiscal years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, the three months ended 31 March 2020, and the six months
ended 30 June 2020 (see points 4.2.1 through 4.2.3 of this section).
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Reconciliation of EBIT

Quarter ended

Fiscal year ended 31
31 December March 30 June

In millions 2018 2019 2020 2020
EBIT of the Transportation sector in Segment Information for the
Transportation Sector (presented in U.S. dollars)® 774 22 51 (377)
EBIT of the Transportation sector in Segment Information for the
Transportation Sector converted into euros’ 655 20 46 (342)
Adjustment items

Expenses relating to the PCG® (49) (41) ) 38)

Management fees® (19) (28) (10) (7)

Other 1 1) -
EBIT as presented in Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding)
UK Limited’s consolidated statement of income (in euros)'* 588 (50) 28 (358)

6 As presented in Note 5 to Bombardier Inc.’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018, and in Note 3 to Bombardier Inc.’s consolidated financial statements for the quarters
ended 31 March 2020 and 30 June 2020.
7 On the basis of a EUR/USD exchange rate of:

-1.18224 for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018;

-1.12002 for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2019;

-1.10241 for the quarter ended 31 March 2020; and

- 1.10130 for the semester ended 30 June 2020.
8 As indicated in Note 33 to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated financial
statements as of and for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, the costs relating to the parent company
guarantees (“PCG costs”), relating to performance guarantees and other guarantees provided by Bombardier Inc. in
the ordinary course of business to third parties in case Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited
fails to perform its contractual obligations were billed to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited
and their subsidiaries until 11 February 2016. The PCG costs represent estimates of the cost of providing guarantee
services to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited. On 11 February 2016, Bombardier Inc.
assigned and transferred the future, uncollected PCG costs to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK
Limited’s in consideration of shares of Bombardier Transportation (Investment) UK Limited for a total of €301
million. Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited recorded a prepaid asset for these PCG costs,
which is subject to amortisation over an equivalent period to the periods guaranteed in respect of the PCG costs
assigned and transferred to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited. Bombardier Transportation
(Global Holding) UK Limited recorded an amortisation expense of €35 million for the parent company guarantees in
fiscal year 2019, and an amortisation expense of €43 million in fiscal year 2018. Bombardier Transportation (Global
Holding) UK Limited recorded an expense of €6 million in 2018 and €6 million in 2019 for the PCG costs invoiced
by Bombardier Inc. The outstanding amount of parent company guarantees issued by Bombardier Inc. and
enforceable as of 31 December 2019 totalled €3,291 million (€5,278 million as of 31 December 2018 and €6,331
million as of 1st January 2018).
As indicated in Note 19 to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated financial
statements as of and for the three months ended 31 March 2020, Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK
Limited recorded an amortisation expense of €8 million for the PCG for the quarter ended 31 March 2020.
As indicated in Note 19 to Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited’s consolidated financial
statements as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2020, Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited
recorded an amortisation expense of €7 million for the PCG for the quarter ended 30 June 2020.
° The management fees paid by Bombardier Transportation (Global Holding) UK Limited will compensate
Bombardier Inc. for two types of services: first, the provision of operational services to Bombardier Transportation
(management of participations in calls for tenders; legal, financial, and accounting services, and human resources
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S. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY FOR THE FIRST QUARTER OF
THE 2020/21 FISCAL YEAR PUBLISHED ON 16 JULY 2020

This information is taken from the press release announcing the results of the first quarter of 2020, posted
on the Company’s website on 16 July 2020, and supplements Chapter 2, “Management Report on
Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 March 2020,” of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20.

Alstom Q1 2020/21 Orders and Sales

e Sales at €1.5 billion, impacted by Covid-19 containment measures
e Sustained level of order intake at €1.7 billion, despite crisis
e Industry-leading backlog at €41.2 billion;

e Rail resilience supported by recent announcements in favour of sustainable mobility.

16 July 2020 — Over the first quarter of the 2020/21 fiscal year (from 1 April to 30 June 2020), Alstom
booked €1.7 billion of orders, compared to €1.6 billion over the same period last year. The Group’s sales
decreased to €1.5 billion, down 27% (-25% on an organic basis) compared to €2.1 billion over the first
quarter of 2019/20. Book-to-bill ratio stood at 1.1.

At €41.2 billion on 30 June 2020, the current backlog provides a strong indication of future sales.

Key Figures

Actual figures 2019/20 2020/21 % change reported % change organic
(in € million) Q1 Q1

Orders received 1,620 1,651 2% 2%

Sales 2,054 1,507 (27%) (25%)

Geographic and product breakdowns of reported orders and sales are provided in Appendix 1. All figures
mentioned in this release are unaudited.

“During the first quarter, the Group’s level of sales was impacted by the consequences of the Covid-19
containment measures. while we achieved a very good continuity of our engineering activity through
remote working, lockdowns impacted our sites and supply chain. Yet, the Group’s commercial activity
remained stable despite the crisis. Announcements of governments worldwide in support of rail show that
the train is more than ever recognised as a way to support the transition towards more sustainable mobility,”
said Henri Poupart-Lafarge, Alstom’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

management) and, second, the provision of services relating to Bombardier Inc.’s role as the parent company
(including the preparation of financial statements, long-term strategic planning, and the drafting of accounting
processes).

10 As presented in Bombardier Transportation’s consolidated statement of income for the fiscal years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019 and the three months ended 31 March 2020 and the six months ended 30 June 2020 (see
points 4.2.1 through 4.2.4 of this section).
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Aekok

Detailed review

During the first quarter of 2020/21, Alstom recorded €1,651 million of orders which compares to €1,620
million for the first quarter of 2019/20. This sustained order intake, despite the crisis, was mainly fuelled
by a large Rolling stock and Services order in AMECA and a metro system order in Taipei, Taiwan. The
Group was also awarded various Services contracts for instance in Mexico, China, the United States and
Greece. Signalling contracts were also booked in Europe and the United States.

Book-to-bill ratio stood at 1.1.

Sales, at €1,507 million, were down 27% (-25% on an organic basis) in the first quarter of 2020/21,
compared to the same period last year. This decrease is mainly caused by the impact of the Covid-19 crisis,
in particular on Rolling Stock due to the slowdown of sales recognition during the containment period, to
a lesser extent on Services due to train traffic reduction and Signalling due to a slowdown in installation.
Additionally, as anticipated for fiscal year 2020/21, Systems sales decreased with contracts nearing
completion in Dubai, Riyadh and a fully traded contract in Panama.

As of July 16, Alstom’s operations are close to a normalised level. Supply chain is resuming in line with
manufacturing operations.

Hkekok

Main events

On June 30, Alstom took a new step forward in the implementation of its AiM strategic plan in France with
the acquisition of Ibre, a company specialised in the development, manufacture and supply of cast iron or
steel brake discs. With this acquisition, Alstom will reinforce its internal capabilities regarding railway
braking systems, which are essential to the overall dynamic performance of trains. Ibre employs around 30
people at its Sens site in the region of Bourgogne Franche-Comté and had a turnover of approximately €10
million in 2019.

The German Federal Ministry of Economics has presented Alstom with the "Innovation Prize for
Regulatory Sandboxes", related to a planned test project to implement Automatic Train Operation (ATO)
in daily passenger operation of regional trains. The project will begin in 2021. For this project, two trains
based on Alstom’s successful Coradia Continental platform will be equipped with a European Train Control
System (ETCS) and additional ATO equipment.

In May 2020, the first of the 12,000-horsepower Prima T8 electric locomotives was put into commercial
service by Indian Railways. In line with the Make-in-India mandate, all 800 of the Prima locomotives are
being manufactured locally.

Despite Covid-19, the two first Avelia Liberty prototypes started their testing programme at the Transport
Technology Center in Pueblo, Colorado and along the North-East Corridor. In a context of travel
restrictions and despite being over 8,000 km away, Alstom experts in Le Creusot (France) were able to
participate in the tests. Sensors were capturing and transmitting test results to Le Creusot in real-time,
allowing the team to analyse the test results.

kokok
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This press release contains forward-looking statements which are based on current plans and forecasts of
Alstom’s management. Such forward-looking statements are relevant to the current scope of activity and
are by their nature subject to a number of important risks and uncertainty factors (such as those described
in the documents filed by Alstom with the French AMF) that could cause actual results to differ from the
plans, objectives and expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements. These such forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and Alstom undertakes no obligation
to update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

This press release does not constitute or form part of a prospectus or any offer or invitation for the sale or
issue of, or any offer or inducement to purchase or subscribe for, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase
or subscribe for any shares or other securities in the Company in France, the United Kingdom, the United
States or any other jurisdiction. Any offer of the Company’s securities may only be made in France pursuant
to a prospectus having received the visa from the AMF or, outside France, pursuant to an offering document
prepared for such purpose. The information does not constitute any form of commitment on the part of the
Company or any other person. Neither the information nor any other written or oral information made
available to any recipient or its advisers will form the basis of any contract or commitment whatsoever. In
particular, in furnishing the information, the Company, the Banks, their affiliates, shareholders, and their
respective directors, officers, advisers, employees or representatives undertake no obligation to provide
the recipient with access to any additional information.
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APPENDIX 1A - GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF ORDERS AND SALES

Actual figures 2019/20 % 2020/21 %
(in € million) Q1 Contrib. Q1 Contrib.
Europe 1,331 83% 239 14%
Americas 100 6% 165 10%
Asia / Pacific 165 10% 345 21%
Africa / Middle East / Central Asia 24 1% 902 55%
Orders by destination 1,620 100% 1,651 100%
Actual figures 2019/20 % 2020/21 %
(in € million) Q1 Contrib. Q1 Contrib.
Europe 1,154 55% 844 56%
Americas 298 15% 262 17%
Asia / Pacific 238 12% 202 14%
Africa / Middle East / Central Asia 364 18% 199 13%
Sales by destination 2,054 100% 1,507 100%
APPENDIX 1B - PRODUCT BREAKDOWN OF ORDERS AND SALES
Actual figures 2019/20 % 2020/21 %
(in € million) Q1 Contrib. Q1 Contrib.
Rolling stock 984 61% 553 34%
Services 324 20% 668 40%
Systems 33 2% 265 16%
Signalling 279 17% 165 10%
Orders by destination 1,620 100% 1,651 100%
Actual figures 2019/20 % 2020/21 %
(in € million) Q1 Contrib. Q1 Contrib.
Rolling stock 967 47% 718 48%
Services 358 18% 283 19%
Systems 375 18% 182 12%
Signalling 354 17% 324 21%
Sales by destination 2,054 100% 1,507 100%
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6. MARKET PERSPECTIVE

The section entitled “Industry Characteristics — Market Perspective” of the Universal Registration
Document 2019/2020 is supplemented and amended as follows:

According to the most recent UNIFE market study, published on 1 October 2020, despite the effects of the
lockdown on the trajectory of growth in 2020, the annual worldwide accessible market for the 2020-2022
period is estimated at €116 billion. Under the “V” scenario, it would grow to an average annual amount of
€126 billion over the 2023-2025 period, for an average annual growth rate of 2.3% as compared with the
2017-2019 period (source: UNIFE World Rail Market Study, 1 October 2020). This annual growth forecast
from the 2017-2019 period to the 2023-2025 period is identical, on average, to the growth rate forecast in
a scenario that excludes the health crisis. The size of the average market in 2023-2025 is also identical.
However, the study forecasts an annual contraction in the annual worldwide accessible railway market in
2020, followed by a rebound in 2021. This trajectory is in contrast to the more even growth forecast prior
to the pandemic.
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The study concluded that the V scenario is the most likely one. It includes the known effects of Covid-19,
such as decreased volumes in the services market due to the decline in passenger traffic and freight
kilometres. It also includes volume adjustments resulting from the postponement of projects. However, the
rapid recovery of the rail market in the V scenario depends significantly on the implementation of
governmental support and recovery programs for the rail industry. Alternatively, in the U scenario, which
includes the negative economic effects of a second wave on economic growth, the railway market’s average
annual growth rate would be limited to 0.9% from the 2017-2019 period to the 2023-2025 period.

Since the start of the pandemic, there have been successive plans to support rail operators. In addition, to
date, the recovery plans have been characterized by the attention paid to the environment, and specifically
to sustainable mobility and the rail sector. For example:

40



o The European Union unveiled its support plan with a Recovery & Resilience Facility, which will
cover the period 2021 to 2024, with a planned €672 billion in investment and financing that must
comply with the objective of achieving climate neutrality by 2050.

o In Germany, the recovery plan provides €2.5 billion for local public transportation and €5.5 billion
in subsidies to Deutsche Bahn. Finally, an ambitious hydrogen plan includes €9 billion in funding.

o In France, the recovery plan unveiled on 3 September 2020 includes €4.7 billion for investment in
rail as well as €1.2 billion for daily mobility. It also provides €2 billion for the development of
green hydrogen. These amounts are expected to be invested by 2022.

o In the United States, the US Invest Act would provide $60 billion for Amtrak, daily rail transport,
and high-speed passenger rail. The bill will be introduced in Congress next year.

In India, the government’s commitment to the rail sector has continued, with a specific objective to electrify
the entire network by 2030, including 7,000 kilometres by 2020/21.
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7. COMPENSATION POLICY APPLICABLE TO THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The subsection entitled, “Compensation of corporate officers — Compensation policy applicable to the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in Chapter 5, “Corporate Governance — Report of the Board of
Directors on Corporate Governance” of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is amended as
follows:

In order to fully align the compensation of the Group’s executive officers with the success of the long-term
integration of the new entity, as well as to reflect the transformational nature of this transaction, the Group’s
compensation policy (subject to approval by the General Meeting) will provide for exceptional
compensation for the Chairman and CEO (as well as other officers and key contributors to the Group),
which will be awarded after and subject to completion of the Acquisition.

This exceptional compensation will consist exclusively of performance shares with a four-year vesting
period, and vesting will be fully subject to performance conditions (internal and external), all assessed at
the end of the acquisition period.

These conditions will be determined by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Nominations
and Remuneration Committee on the basis of criteria that take into account the scope of consolidation of
the new group, reflecting the long-term success of the integration of Bombardier Transportation (such as
the operational and financial turnaround of the principal Bombardier Transportation projects already
identified by Alstom as presenting challenges with respect to performance or delivery to customers, the
achievement of synergies, total shareholder return or earnings per share accretion) and for which the
triggering thresholds will be set at the level of the objectives announced by Alstom in its press releases of
17 February 2020 and 16 September 2020. These conditions will also be defined in such a way as to avoid
duplication with the objectives targeted by the other variable compensation mechanisms.

As aresult, the vesting of these shares, which is potential and not guaranteed, is fully based on performance
conditions measuring the success of the integration of the new entity, assessed over several years.

Furthermore, due to its exceptional nature, this grant will not count against the limits currently applicable
to the long-term variable compensation of the Chairman and CEO as defined by the 2020/21 compensation
policy or by the 2021/22 compensation policy. The IFRS value (which is used in preparing the Group’s
consolidated statements) of this exceptional grant may not exceed 100% of the fixed short-term annual
compensation of the Chairman and CEO (€850,000).

The shares granted and vested under this exceptional plan are subject to the same retention requirement and
prohibition on hedging instruments as provided for the long-term variable compensation and defined in the
2020/21 compensation policy. In the event of departure of the CEO, the continuation of the benefit of these
shares will be subject to the same conditions and limits as those described in the compensation policy for
the 2020/21 fiscal year.

This compensation, which is strictly related to the Acquisition, is not recurring and is not intended to be
replicated in the compensation policy for future fiscal years.

In order to incentivise employees with respect to the planned transaction, this exceptional compensation
may be supplemented by a free share grant plan applicable to all employees (excluding the beneficiaries
discussed above), within the framework approved by the General Meeting held on 10 July 2019.
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8. SHAREHOLDERS AND GOVERNANCE
8.1 Shareholders

The section “Information on share capital — Ownership of Alstom Shares” in Chapter 7, “Additional
Information” of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is amended and supplemented as follows:

Shareholding of the Company as of 30 September 2020

o, o,
Number of 0 Wil Number of /O.Of
Shareholder 7 share 3 ] voting
ordinary shares . voting rights ]
capital rights
PUDBIIC..c..ioiiiiiiiiiiiccc 189,883,071 83.70 % 190,478,342 72.78 %
Bouygues S.A. W i, 32,936,226 14.52 % 65,872,452 2517 %
Employees® ......cccocovviivirerereniiiieneeienae, 4,050,465 1.79 % 5,371,144 2.05%
TOTAL 226,869,762 100 % 261,721,938 100 %

W Without taking into account the forward sale announced by Bouygues S.A. on 29 September 2020 of 11
million shares of the Company (representing approximately 4.8% of the Company's share capital), the
settlement of which will take place on 3 November 2020.

2) Shares held by employees and former employees of the Group.

8.2 Governance

Alstom’s General Meeting was held on 8 July 2020 behind closed doors and was broadcast online. The
General Meeting approved all of the proposed resolutions.

Shareholders approved the non-distribution of dividends this year in the context of the current crisis.

The General Meeting also approved the renewal of the mandate of Mr Yann Delabriére and the nomination
of Mr Frank Mastiaux as Directors. Mr Frank Mastiaux, who is German, has an international profile. His
professional career was spent in Great Britain, the United States and Germany. He has held various positions
in the energy sector and is currently CEO of the energy provider EnbW. Furthermore, the expiry of the
mandate of Mr Gérard Hauser was acknowledged.

As of the date of this Amendment, the composition of the Company’s Board of Directors is as follows:
e Henri Poupart-Lafarge, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer;

e Yann Delabri¢re, Lead Independent Director, Chairman of the Nominations and Remuneration
Committee;

e Olivier Bouygues;
e Bi Yong Chungunco, Independent Director, Member of the Ethics and Compliance Committee;
e Clotilde Delbos, Independent Director, Member of the Audit Committee;

e Pascal Grangé, Permanent Representative of Bouygues S.A., Member of the Audit Committee
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o Sylvie Kand¢ de Beaupuy, Independent Director, Chairwoman of the Ethics and Compliance
Committee;

e Frank Mastiaux, Independent Director, Member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee;

e Baudouin Prot, Independent Director, Member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee
and member of the Ethics and Compliance Committee; and

e Sylvie Rucar, Independent Director, Chairwoman of the Audit Committee, Member of the
Nominations and Remuneration Committee.

There are four women (40% of the directors) on the Board of Directors, and the proportion of independent
Directors is 70%.

Section 5, “Corporate Governance”, in the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 includes up-to-date
information with respect to the Board of Directors in its current composition.

In addition, in connection with the Acquisition, CDPQ will have the right, subject to completion of the
Acquisition and effective as of the Completion Date, to appoint two directors and one censor to the
Company’s Board of Directors (see also Section 1.2.2(b) of this Amendment, “CDPQ Reinvestment
Agreement — Governance”).

CDPQ would be represented by Ms Kim Thomassin and Mr Serge Godin, whose appointments as directors
are subject to the vote of the General Meeting. At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 22
September 2020, the Board decided, on the recommendation of the Nominations and Remuneration
Committee, to characterize CDPQ, represented by Ms Thomassin, as a non-independent director, and to
characterize Mr Godin as an independent director.

In reaching this conclusion, the Board of Directors, at its meeting of 22 September 2020, found that Mr
Godin had no interest in CDPQ), despite the fact that CDPQ holds a minority stake in CGI Inc. There is no
shareholders’ agreement or other agreement of that nature. The Board of Directors also took note that Mr
Godin does not receive instructions from CDPQ with respect to the decisions to be made by Alstom’s Board
of Directors.

Furthermore, in its analysis of Mr Godin’s independence, the Board of Directors took into account the
existence of a framework agreement entered into between Alstom and CGI France in 2015, with respect to
which the amounts invoiced annually for on-going services have not been significant for either party since
entry into the agreement. This analysis took into account the conditions under which the agreement was
entered into, in compliance with strict internal procedures, and the fact that neither party is dependent on
the amounts in question, in light of the CGI Group’s revenues, among other considerations (these amounts
have varied between 0.05% to 0.20% of CGI France’s revenues since the agreement was signed).

On the basis of this information, Alstom’s Board of Directors concluded that Mr Godin’s freedom of
judgment as to Board decisions was not likely to be compromised, as none of the information was of such
a nature as to indicate a lack of independence.
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9. UPDATED INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER
9.1 Dividend distribution policy

The section entitled “Information on the share capital — Dividends paid in the three previous fiscal years”
in Chapter 7, “Additional Information” of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is amended and
supplemented as follows:

The Company paid dividends in the amount of €77,773,664.85 (or €0.35 per share) in respect of the fiscal
year ended 31 March 2018, and in the amount of €1,233,674,123.00 (or €5.50 per share) for the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2019. The Company did not pay a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020.
Indeed, in the context of the Covid-19 health crisis, the Board of Directors decided at its meeting of 11 May
2020 not to propose a dividend to the annual shareholders’ meeting in 2020.

The strategic plan “Alstom in Motion” (or “AiM”), setting financial objectives through 2022/23, introduced
a Group dividend policy with a distribution rate of between 25% and 35%, which will be revisited in the
context of the Transaction.

Once the closing of the Transaction has taken place and the trajectory of the new group has been defined,
a new dividend policy will be assessed by the Company based on the performance of the combined entity
with the objectives of a fair remuneration of shareholders, an appropriate allocation of capital, and the
maintenance of a solid “investment grade” credit rating.

9.2 Strategy

The section entitled “Strategy,” in Chapter 1, “Description of Group Activities” in the Universal
Registration Document 2019/20 is amended and supplemented as follows:

The objectives in the Alstom in Motion (AiM) plan were announced on the basis of the Group’s scope of
consolidation prior to the Acquisition.

These objectives will be revised over the course of the 2021/22 fiscal year to take into account the
integration of Bombardier Transportation, and will be disclosed to the market.
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10. FINANCIAL AUTHORISATIONS

The table included in Chapter 7, “Additional Information—Information on the share capital—Financial
authorisations ” in the Universal Registration Document 2019/20, summarising the financial authorisations
in effect as of 11 May 2020 and their use during the fiscal year, is hereby completed as follows as of the

date of this Amendment, following Alstom’s general meeting held on 8 July 2020:

Nominal Expiration of
Nature of the | Maximum nominal amount | amount used | Available the
authorisation authorised during the | amount authorisation/
period Term
ISSUES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Delegation of competence Capital: €510 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
to issue shares and approximately 32% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
securities granting access to | share capital 1 © amount months)
the share capital (with
preferential subscription Debt securities: €1.5 billion
rights maintained) and/or @
by capitalisation of reserves
(only available for use
outside public offering
periods)
(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 13)
Delegation of competence Capital: €155 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
to issue shares and approximately 10% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
securities granting access to | share capital ©¥), less any amount months)
the share capital (without capital increase without
preferential subscription preferential subscription
rights) by means of an offer | rights pursuant to resolutions
to the public (excluding Nos. 15 to 20 (DG
offers referred to in Article
L. 411-2 1° of the French | Debt securities: €750 million
Monetary and Financial @
Code) and the ability to
grant a priority subscription
period (only available for
use outside public offer
periods)
(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 14)
Delegation of competence Capital: €155 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
to issue shares and approximately 10% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
securities granting access to | share capital ©, less any amount months)
the share capital (without capital increase without
preferential subscription preferential subscription
rights) by means of an offer | rights pursuant to resolutions
referred to in Article L. Nos. 14 and 16 to 20 D)
411-2 1° of the French
Monetary and Financial
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Code (only available for
use outside public offer
periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 15)

Debt securities: €750 million
2

Maximum discount: 5% of
the weighted average stock
price over the last three
trading sessions prior to the
beginning of the offer to the
public.

Ability to issue shares Capital: €155 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
and/or transferable approximately 10% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
securities giving immediate | share capital ®, less any amount months)
or future access to the share | capital increase without
capital in consideration of | preferential subscription
contributions in kind in the | rights pursuant to resolutions
form of shares or securities | Nos. 14, 15 and 17 to 20 (D ®
giving access to the
Company’s share capital
(only available for use
outglde public offer Maximum discount: 5% of
periods) the weighted average stock
price over the last three
(AGM of 8 July 2020, trading sessions prior to the
resolution No. 16) beginning of the offer to the
public.
Delegation of competence | Not to exceed 15% of the None Maximum 8  September
to increase the amount of initial issuance and will authorised 2022 (term: 26
the initial issuance up to a count against the maximum amount months)
limit of 15% of the initial amounts authorised by the
issuance in the event of a delegations under which the
capital increase with or initial issuance is carried out
without preferential (resolutions Nos. 13 to 15
subscription rights (only and 18 t0 20) W ®
usable outside public offer
periods) Debt securities: €750 million
(@)
(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 17)
Delegation of competence Issue price: the Board may None Maximum 8  September
to set the issuance price choose one of the two authorised 2022 (term: 26
without preferential following options: (i) an amount months)

subscription rights by offer
to the public (including the
offers referred to in Article
L. 411-2 1° of the French
Monetary and Financial
Code (only available for
use outside public offer
periods)

issue price corresponding to
the average trading price
recorded over a period of up
to six months before the
offer to the public, or (ii) an
issue price corresponding to
the volume weighted average
share price on the day before
the issue (1-day VWAP),
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(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 18)

with a maximum discount of
5%.

Not to exceed 10% of the of
the share capital over a
period of 12 months and will
count against the maximum
amounts authorised by the
delegations under which the
initial issuance is carried out

(resolutions Nos. 14 and 15)
1A

Debt securities: €750 million
2

Delegation of competence Capital: €155 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
to issue (with preferential approximately 10% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
subscription rights share capital ®, less any amount months)
cancelled) Company shares | capital increase without

and securities granting preferential subscription

access to the Company’s rights pursuant to resolutions

capital in the event of a Nos. 14 to 18 and 20 W@ ®

public exchange offer

initiated by the Company

(only available for use

outside public offering

periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,

resolution No. 19)

Delegation of competence Capital: €155 million, i.e., None Maximum 8  September
to issue Company shares approximately 10% of the authorised 2022 (term: 26
(with preferential share capital ®, less any amount months)
subscription rights capital increase without

cancelled) as a result of the | preferential subscription

issuance by subsidiaries of | rights pursuant to resolutions

the Company of securities | Nos. 14 to 19 (D ®

giving access to the

Company’s capital (only

available for use outside

public offering periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,

resolution No. 20)

OFFERINGS TO EMPLOYEES AND EXECUTIVES

Delegation of competence 2% of the share capital at the | None Maximum 8  September
to decide to increase the date of the Shareholders’ authorised 2022 (term: 26
Company’s share capital Meeting, less any amount amount months)

through the issuance of
shares or other securities
reserved for participants in
a Company or Group

issued pursuant to resolution
No.23 @
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savings plan, preferential
subscription rights

cancelled
(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 22)
Delegation of competence 0.5% of the share capital at None Maximum 8 January 2022
to decide to increase the the date of the Shareholders’ authorised (term: 18
Company’s share capital, Meeting, less any amount amount months)
reserved for a class of issued pursuant to resolution
beneficiaries © with No.22 @
cancellation of the
shareholders’ preferential
subscription right.
(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 23)
Authorisation to carry out 5 million shares, i.e., €8,019,375 €26,980,625 10 July 2021
free grants of existing or approximately 2.2% of the (corresponding | (term: 24
future shares of the capital (V® including up to to 3,854,375 | months)
Company with preferential | 200,000 shares for corporate shares)
subscription rights officers and up to 2 million
cancelled shares for profit-sharing
arrangements (without
(AGM of 10 July 2019, performance conditions).
resolution No. 14)
SHARE BUYBACKS AND CAPITAL REDUCTIONS
Authorisation to trade in 10% of share capital None Maximum 8 January 2022
the Company’s shares authorised (term: 18
(usable only outside public | Maximum price: €60 amount months)
offering periods)
Maximum total programme
(AGM of 8 July 2020, amount: €1.35 billion
resolution No. 12)
Authorisation to reduce the | 10% of the shares that make | None Maximum 8  September
capital by cancelling shares | up the Company’s share authorised 2022 (term: 26
capital on each cancellation amount months)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 21)

date

1. Overall cap on capital increases that may result from these authorisations: €510 million, or approximately
32% of the capital at 31 March 2020 (before any adjustments).

2. Overall cap on issuances of debt securities under these authorisations: €1.5 billion

3. Overall cap on capital increases that may result from these authorisations without preferential subscription
rights (resolution No. 14 to 20): €155 million, i.e., approximately 10% of the capital at 31 March 2020

(before any adjustments).

4. Overall cap on capital increases in relation to employee savings schemes: 2% of the capital at the date of the
2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting (before any adjustments).
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5. On the basis of the share capital at 31 March 2020, which amounted to €1,581,816,474, divided into
225,973,782 shares with a nominal value of €7 per share.

6. Cancellation of the preferential subscription right for the benefit of beneficiaries meeting the following
criteria: (i) any company held by a financial institution or any financial institution retained by the Company
to put in place a structured offering for officers and employees of companies related to the Company, as
provided for under Articles L. 225-180 and L. 233-16 of the French Commercial Code and having their
registered office outside of France; and/or (ii) officers and employees of companies related to the Company
as provided for under Articles L. 225-180 and L. 233-16 of the French Commercial Code and having their
registered office outside of France; and/or (iii) UCITS or other entities of employee shareholders invested in
shares of the Company, whether or not they are legal entities, the shareholders of which shall be constituted
of the persons mentioned in (ii) above.

In connection with the Acquisition, the following will be proposed at the General Meeting: (i) a new
delegation to the Board of Directors to decide to carry out capital increases with maintenance of preferential
subscription rights in order to enable the Planned Capital Increase, with an increase in the maximum
nominal amount of capital increases with maintenance of preferential subscription rights to a nominal
amount of €790 million, i.e., an amount corresponding to 50% of the share capital (with an overall cap
increased up to 1,480 million euros); (ii) two resolutions (corresponding to two alternative structures) on a
capital increase reserved for CDP Investissements (one through the issuance of Preferred Shares and the
other through the issuance of ordinary shares); (iii) a resolution on the capital increase reserved for
Bombardier UK Holding Limited; and (iv) two resolutions delegating competence to the Board of Directors
to decide to carry out capital increases relating to employee shareholding transactions.

The table below includes the financial delegations and authorisations the renewal or approval of which is
proposed to you in connection with the Acquisition:

Nature of the authorisation Maximum nominal amount authorised Expiration of the
authorisation/ Term

ISSUES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Delegation of competence to Capital: €790 million, i.e., approximately 50% | 29 December 2022 (term: 26

issue shares and securities of the share capital (V' ® months)
granting access to the share
capital with preferential Debt securities: €1.5 billion @

subscription rights maintained
and/or by capitalisation of
reserves (only available for
use outside public offering

periods)

(AGM of 29 October 2020,

resolution No. 4)

Delegation of powers in the Capital: €570 million ¥ ®), Use of the delegation of
framework of a capital powers, as the case may be, at
increase (without preferential | Subscription price per unit: €44.45 Completion Date and at the
subscription rights) reserved date of payment of the Second
for CDP Investissements, by Tranche of the Acquisition
issuance of Preferred Shares Price ®
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(AGM of 29 October 2020,
resolution No. 6)

Delegation of competence to
increase the Company’s share
capital (without preferential
subscription rights) reserved
for CDP Investissements by
issuance or ordinary shares.

(AGM of 29 October 2020,
resolution No. 7)

Capital: €570 million D ®),

Subscription price per unit: €44.45 7

29  April
months) ®

2022 (term: 18

Delegation of competence to
increase the Company’s share
capital (without preferential
subscription rights) reserved
for Bombardier UK Holding
Limited by issuance or
ordinary shares.

(AGM of 29 October 2020,
resolution No. 8)

Capital : €120 millionV ®

Subscription price per unit: €47.50 7

29  April
months)

2022 (term: 18

Delegation of competence to
issue shares and securities
granting access to the share
capital ‘without preferential
subscription rights) by means
of an offer to the public
(excluding offers referred to in
Article L. 411-2 1° of the
French Monetary and
Financial Code) and the
ability to grant a priority
subscription period (only
available for use outside
public offer periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 14)

Capital: €155 million, i.e., approximately 10%
of the share capital ¥, less any capital increase
without preferential subscription rights
pursuant to resolutions Nos. 15 to 20 (D

Debt securities: €750 million @

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)

Delegation of competence to
issue shares and securities
granting access to the share
capital (without preferential
subscription rights) by means
of an offer referred to in
Article L. 411-2 1° of the
French Monetary and
Financial Code (only available
for use outside public offer
periods)

Capital: €155 million, i.e., approximately 10%
of the share capital ¥, less any capital increase
without preferential subscription rights

pursuant to resolutions Nos. 14 and 16 to 20 (V
3)

Debt securities: €750 million ®

Maximum discount: 5% of the weighted
average stock price over the last three trading

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)
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(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 15)

sessions prior to the beginning of the offer to
the public.

Ability to issue shares and/or
transferable securities giving
immediate or future access to
the share capital in
consideration of contributions
in kind in the form of shares
or securities giving access to
the Company’s share capital
(only available for use outside
public offer periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 16)

Capital: €155 million, i.e., approximately 10%
of the share capital ®), less any capital increase
without preferential subscription rights
pursuant to resolutions Nos. 14, 15 and 17 to
20 MDA

Maximum discount: 5% of the weighted
average stock price over the last three trading
sessions prior to the beginning of the offer to
the public.

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)

Delegation of competence to
increase the amount of the
initial issuance up to a limit of
15% of the initial issuance in
the event of a capital increase
with or without preferential
subscription rights (only
usable outside public offer
periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 17)

Not to exceed 15% of the initial issuance and
will count against the maximum amounts
authorised by the delegations under which the
initial issuance is carried out (resolutions Nos.
13 to 15 and 18 to 20) D ®

Debt securities: €750 million ®

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)

Delegation of competence to
set the issuance price without
preferential subscription rights
by offer to the public
(including the offers referred
to in Article L. 411-2 1° of the
French Monetary and
Financial Code (only available
for use outside public offer
periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 18)

Issue price: the Board may choose one of the
two following options: (i) an issue price
corresponding to the average trading price
recorded over a period of up to six months
before the offer to the public, or (ii) an issue
price corresponding to the volume weighted
average share price on the day before the issue
(1-day VWAP), with a maximum discount of
5%.

Not to exceed 10% of the share capital over a
period of 12 months and will count against the
maximum amounts authorised by the
delegations under which the initial issuance is
carried out (resolutions Nos. 14 and 15) (D ®

Debt securities: €750 million ®

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)

Delegation of competence to
issue (with preferential
subscription rights cancelled)
Company shares and securities
granting access to the
Company’s capital in the
event of a public exchange
offer initiated by the Company

Capital: €155 million, i.e., approximately 10%
of the share capital ¥, less any capital increase
without preferential subscription rights

pursuant to resolutions Nos. 14 to 18 and 20 (V
@06

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)
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(only available for use outside
public offering periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 19)

Delegation of competence to
issue Company shares (with
preferential subscription rights
cancelled) as a result of the
issuance by subsidiaries of the
Company of securities giving
access to the Company’s
capital (only available for use
outside public offering
periods)

(AGM of 8 July 2020,
resolution No. 20)

Capital: €155 million, i.e., approximately 10%
of the share capital ®), less any capital increase
without preferential subscription rights
pursuant to resolutions Nos. 14 to 19 W ®

8 September 2022 (term: 26
months)

OFFERINGS TO EMPLOYEES

AND EXECUTIVES

Delegation of competence to
decide to increase the
Company’s share capital
through the issuance of shares
or other securities reserved for
participants in a Company or
Group savings plan,
preferential subscription rights
cancelled

(AGM of 29 October 2020,
resolution No. 9)

2% of the share capital at the date of the
Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 October 2020,
less any amount issued pursuant to resolution
No. 10 of the Shareholders’ Meeting of 29
October 2020 @

29 December 2022 (term: 26
months)

Delegation of competence to
decide to increase the
Company’s share capital,
reserved for a class of
beneficiaries © with
cancellation of the
shareholders’ preferential
subscription right.

(AGM of 29 October 2020,
resolution No. 10)

0.5% of the share capital at the date of the
Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 October 2020,
less any amount issued pursuant to resolution
No. 9 of the Shareholders’ Meeting of 29
October 2020 @

29  April
months)

2022 (term: 18

Authorisation to carry out free
grants of existing or future
shares of the Company with
preferential subscription rights
cancelled

(AGM of 10 July 2019,
resolution No. 14)

5 million shares, i.e., approximately 2.2% of
the capital V®_ including up to 200,000 shares
for corporate officers and up to 2 million
shares for profit-sharing arrangements
(without performance conditions).

10 July 2021 (term: 24 months)

SHARE BUYBACKS AND CAPITAL REDUCTIONS

53




Authorisation to trade in the 10% of share capital 8 January 2022 (term: 18

Company’s shares (usable months)
only outside public offering Maximum price: €60
periods)
Maximum total programme amount: €1.35
(AGM of 8 July 2020, billion
resolution No. 12)
Authorisation to reduce the 10% of the shares that make up the 8 September 2022 (term: 26
capital by cancelling shares Company’s share capital on each cancellation | months)
date
(AGM of 8 July 2020,

resolution No. 21)

1.

Overall cap on capital increases that may result from these authorisations set by the general meeting of 29
October 2020 at €1,480 million.

Overall cap on issuances of debt securities under these authorisations: €1.5 billion.

Overall cap on capital increases that may result from these authorisations without preferential subscription
rights (resolution Nos. 14 to 20): €155 million, i.e., approximately 10% of the capital as of 31 March 2020
(before any adjustments).

Overall cap on capital increases relating to employee savings schemes: 2% of the capital at the date of the
2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting (before any adjustments).

On the basis of the share capital at 31 August 2020, which was €1,587,852,560, divided into 226,836,080
shares with a nominal value of €7 per share.

Cancellation of the preferential subscription right for the benefit of beneficiaries meeting the following
criteria: (i) any company held by a financial institution or any financial institution retained by the Company
to put in place a structured offering for officers and employees of companies related to the Company, as
provided for under Articles L. 225-180 and L. 233-16 of the French Commercial Code, and having their
registered office outside of France; and/or (ii) officers and employees of companies related to the Company,
as provided for under Articles L. 225-180 and L. 233-16 of the French Commercial Code, and having their
registered office outside of France; and/or (iii) UCITS or other entities of employee shareholders invested in
shares of the Company, whether or not they are legal entities, the shareholders of which consist of the
persons mentioned in (ii) above.

Subject to adjustments inversely proportional to the adjustments in the number of ordinary shares to be
issued, which are described in Annex 6 to the Amendment for the ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to
resolution No. 7 of the AGM of 29 October 2020, and in Annex 3 to the Amendment for the ordinary shares
to be issued pursuant to resolution No. 8 of the AGM of 29 October 2020.

If, in accordance with the rules in force and the sixth resolution of the AGM of 29 October 2020, Preferred
Shares have been issued and are outstanding, the Board of Directors may not use the delegation granted to it
under the seventh resolution of the AGM of 29 October 2020.
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11. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE BEGINNING OF THE 2020/21 FISCAL YEAR

This information below is taken from the press releases issued after publication of the Universal
Registration Document 2019/20 and supplements Chapter 1, “Management Report on Consolidated
Financial Statements as of 31 March 2020,” of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20.

On 18 June 2020, Alstom announced that it had signed a strategic alliance with RATP Dev and
ComfortDelGro Transit in order to form a joint venture to submit a tender for the Grand Paris Express, one
of the largest transportation projects in Europe.

ek

On 25 June 2020, Alstom announced that it had obtained certification of the most recent European
interoperability standard for rail, the ETCS (European Train Control System) Baseline 3 Version 2. This
certification enables Alstom to deploy its innovative data fusion algorithm system to measure the location
and speed of trains.

ks

On 30 June 2020, Alstom announced that it was using its Al mobility management solution, Mastria,
to ensure physical distancing and safety in Panama’s trains and train stations.

Akekok

On 1 July 2020, Alstom announced the acquisition of Ibre, a company specialised in the
development, manufacture and supply of cast iron or steel brake discs for high-speed, intercity, regional
and suburban trains, trams and metros. Ibre has international operations and employs approximately 30
people at its Sens site in Burgundy Franche Comté. It had sales of approximately €10 million in 2019. This
acquisition enables Alstom to expand its expertise in braking systems.

skeskesk

On 10 July 2020, Alstom announced the inauguration by the Dubai Routes and Transportation
Authority (RTA) of the Dubai Route 2020 metro, built by the Expolink consortium of which Alstom was
the head, responsible inter alia for the integration of the entire metro system (including 50 Metropolis
trainsets), power supply, communication, signalling, automatic ticket control, track works, platform screen
doors and a three-year warranty on the whole system.

The Dubai Route 2020 metro consists of a 15 kilometre long line, of which 11.8 km is above ground
and 3.2 km underground, as well as an interchange, for a total cost of €2.6 billion.

seskesk

On 10 July 2020, Alstom announced that the Alstom-led consortium with the Taiwanese
engineering services company had signed a contract for the Phase Two extension of Taipei Metro Line 7.
The contract is valued at close to €424 million, of which Alstom’s share represents approximately €248
million.

seskesk

On 15 July 2020, Alstom announced that it would test automatic shunting locomotives in the
Netherlands. The tests, which are intended to demonstrate how the use of fully automated trains can
optimise rail operation to ensure cost-effective and sustainable mobility in the face of growing demand in
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shunting operations, will be carried out at the highest level of automation (GoA4). Ordinary tasks, such as
starting and stopping, pushing wagons, controlling traction and brakes and the handling of emergencies,
will be fully automated, with train staff remaining aboard to ensure safety protocol during the tests.

Askok

On 20 July 2020, Alstom announced that its consortium with Indra and Constructora San Jose had
signed a €53 million contract with the Spanish railway infrastructure authority to supply and install the
safety and security systems for twelve tunnels in the Pajares Bypass high speed connection.

Akekok

On 22 July 2020, Alstom and Eversholt Rail announced an additional investment of more than €1
million in British hydrogen trains, creating an entirely new class of train, the first-ever 600 series, in
response to the British government’s project to decarbonise the rail industry.

eskosk

On 24 July 2020, Alstom announced that it would support the “Cuisine Mode d’Emploi(s)” training
school in the form of a €24,000 donation, as part of its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) commitment.

dkeskosk

On 28 July 2020, Alstom announced that it had begun construction in Germany on the first
hydrogen charging station for passenger trains in the world. This project is in alignment with Alstom’s
innovations in the area of hydrogen trains.

Hkekok

On 6 August 2020, Alstom started validation tests on Prima T8 freight locomotives "AZ8A" in
Azerbaijan, on the main freight transport line recently converted from 3 kV DC to 25 kV AC.

*ekk

On 17 August 2020, Alstom successfully supplied, tested and commissioned part of Line 3 of the
Cairo Metro, Phase 4, with a total of 10 stations from Heliopolis to Adly Mansour.

skskok

On 27 August 2020, Alstom was chosen by SNCB (Belgian Railways) to design, manufacture and
commission national and European ETCS level 1 & 2 signalling equipment on 23 HLD77 locomotives
belonging to Infrabel. The base contract comes with an option to equip 5 additional locomotives of the same

type.

skskok

On 2 September 2020, the Senior Vice President of Alstom Digital Mobility discussed Alstom's
progress towards becoming a major player in intelligent mobility, taking into account the emergence of
autonomous driving.

skskok
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On 8 September 2020, Alstom announced the delivery of the first two Citadis X05 tramways (of a
total of 25) ordered by the Athens Urban Transport Authority in July 2018. They will be subjected to
dynamic tests at the end of September and put into commercial service in February 2021.

Askok

On 11 September 2020, Alstom announced that the Steering Committee of the Euronext Indices
had decided the day before to include Alstom in the list of the 40 stocks making up the CAC40 index in
Paris. This inclusion will be effective from Monday 21 September 2020.

Askok

On 11 September 2020, Alstom announced that the Coradia iLint hydrogen train developed by
Alstom, was to provide regular passenger service for the very first time for OBB, the Austrian Federal
Railways. This three-month service follows successful trials conducted by the Coradia iLint in Northern
Germany between 2018 and 2020. The Coradia iLint is equipped with fuel that enables it to transform
hydrogen and oxygen into electricity; thus the train is emission-free while it is in operation.

Aekok

On 14 September 2020, Alstom announced that it had officially delivered Line 3 of the urban
transportation network in Guadalajara, Jalisco State, Mexico. This new line of about 21km is expected to
carry about 230,000 passengers a day. The contract signed in 2014 included the supply of 18 Metropolis
trains, communication systems, high-voltage and traction substations as well as rail control systems based
on Urbalis 400, Alstom's CBTC system. The trains are equipped with air conditioning, video surveillance
and passenger information systems.

H*ekok

On 18 September 2020, Alstom presented the first RER NG train at Alstom’s railway testing centre

in Valenciennes. This New Generation RER will be delivered in late 2021, and will equip Line D and Line
E of the RER.

&gk

On 21 September 2020, Alstom announced that Alstom and SNCF, in connection with their
innovation collaboration entered into in 2016, had launched an internal contest for their employees to design

the two test trains for the future TGV M, the next-generation TGV that will be more efficient, more eco-
friendly, and 100% French.

sk

On 23 September 2020, Alstom announced that the Asocierea RailWorks consortium of which it is
a part had signed an agreement to provide digital train control, traffic management, and electrification
infrastructure for the Rhine-Danube rail corridor. Alstom’s share of the contract is approximately €70
million.

skskosk
On 30 September 2020, Alstom announced that the Coradia iLint hydrogen train developed by
Alstom had successfully completed tests in the Netherlands intended to determine whether a hydrogen train

could be a fully viable alternative to the diesel trains currently in circulation. The report by the Province of
Groningen indicates that the Coradia iLint easily satisfied the four objectives that had been set: authorisation
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to circulate on the Dutch rail network issued by the Dutch safety evaluation body, zero emissions and full
compatibility with the current commercial service, rapid and easy refuelling, and familiarisation of the
public with hydrogen mobility.

Hskok

On 2 October 2020, together with Ile-de-France Mobilités and Société du Grand Paris, Alstom
unveiled the design for fle-de-France’s future metro lines 15, 16, and 17.
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12. LITIGATION, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND ARBITRATION

Note 33, “Litigation”, to the consolidated financial statements as of 31 March 2020 included in Chapter 3,
"Financial Information", of the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is supplemented and amended
as follows:

Italy

On June 23, 2020, a series of searches and arrests were carried out by the Milan police under instructions
of the Milan Prosecution Office as part of an investigation into alleged bribes and bid-rigging in connection
with public tenders for Azienda Transporte Milanesi (“ATM”), the municipal public transport company
and operator of the Milan subway. The investigation concerns at least seven companies and 28 individuals,
including three current employees and one former employee of Alstom Ferroviaria S.p.A. (the “Alstom
Italy employees”).

The Prosecution Office alleges that the Alstom Italy employees engaged in bid-rigging under Article 353
of the Italian Criminal Code, including colluding with an employee of ATM to obtain confidential technical
information in order to secure an undue advantage in the tender process for a 2019 contract for the Milan
subway. Alstom did not ultimately submit a bid in respect of this contract.

The Prosecution Office also alleges that two of the Alstom Italy employees (one current and one former
employee) engaged in corruption under Articles 319 et seq. of the Italian Criminal Code by allegedly
promising a reward to the ATM manager in consideration of information provided on the same tender
process. In the pre-trial detention order dated June 13, 2020, the preliminary investigations judge noted that
the information available to date was insufficient to demonstrate that the offense of corruption had been
committed under Articles 319 et seq. of the Italian Criminal Code, and hence ordered the arrest of two of
the Alstom Italy employees only in respect of the bid-rigging allegation under Article 353 of the Italian
Criminal Code.

Alstom Ferroviaria S.p.A. is also subject to investigation regarding alleged violation of Legislative Decree
No. 231/2001 (“Decree 231/2001”) for not having implemented (or not having effectively applied) a system
of control capable to prevent the acts of corruption by its employees. Indeed, under Decree 231/2001, a
company can be held liable for having benefitted from certain criminal offenses committed by its
employees, which can result in fines, disgorgement and other disqualifying measures, such as suspension
of licences or disqualification from participating in certain activities (including tenders launched by Italian
public entities) or receiving certain sources of funding. Such liability under Decree 231/2001 does not
extend to bid-rigging. Alstom may also be subject to claims for damages under the Italian Civil Code.

A company may only be held liable under Decree 231/2001 if the criminal misconduct of its employees is
established. In such a case, a company may seek to defend itself from corporate liability under Decree
231/2001 by showing that it had adopted and effectively implemented an organizational model (known as
a “Modello”) to prevent misconduct and established an independent supervisory body (known as an
“organismo di vigilanza”) to oversee compliance with the Modello. Alstom Ferroviaria S.p.A. has adopted
a Modello and has established an organismo di vigilanza.

Alstom is conducting an internal investigation into the allegations discussed above in coordination with

external counsel and has taken certain interim measures in response to the allegations of the Prosecution
Office, including suspending one of the current Alstom Italy employees.
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Witness interviews commenced in September 2020. The preliminary investigation by the Prosecution
Office continues in parallel. Following its investigation, the Prosecution Office will decide whether to
request a dismissal or to request an indictment.

In addition, the subsection of Chapter 7 entitled “Additional Information—Information on the Group and
the Parent Company—ILegal Proceedings and Arbitration” in the Universal Registration Document
2019/20 is hereby amended as follows:

The reader is asked to refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements as of 31 March 2020 included
in the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 for a description of the Group’s principal legal
proceedings. With the exception of the proceedings and disputes described in the Universal Registration
Document and this Amendment, the Group is not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings (including any threatened or suspended proceedings) that could have or have had in the past
12 months a material effect on the Group’s financial condition or profitability.
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13. DECLARATIONS BY THE PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE AMENDMENT TO
THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2019/20

“I hereby declare that, after having taken all reasonable care for such purpose, the information contained
in this Amendment to the Universal Registration Document 2019/20 is, to my knowledge, true and
accurate and contains no omission that could make it misleading.”

Saint-Ouen-sur-Seine, 7 October 2020

Henri Poupart-Lafarge
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

For Bombardier Transportation:

“I hereby declare that, after having taken all reasonable care for such purpose, the information contained
in Section 4 “Description of Bombardier Transportation” of this Amendment to the Universal
Registration Document 2019/20, including the annexes referred to in such Section 4, is, to my knowledge,
true and accurate and contains no omission that could make it misleading.”

Avon, Connecticut, 7 October 2020

Mr. Danny Di Perna
President

Montréal, Québec, 7 October 2020

Mr. Richard Coulombe
Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer
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14. RECONCILIATION TABLE

The reconciliation table below reproduces the headings required by Annex 1 to Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980 of 14 March 2019 and provides the page numbers of the Universal Registration
Document 2019/20 and of this Amendment on which the information required under each such heading
may be found.

Universal Registration

Document 2019/2020 Amendment
Annexes 1 and 2 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 of 14 March Page Section|
2019
1| Persons responsible, third party information, experts’ reports, and competent
authority approval
1.1 Identification of persons responsible 301 13
1.2 Declaration of persons responsible 301 13
13 Expert declarations or reports N/A N/A
1.4 Confirmation regarding information from third parties N/A N/A
1.5 Declaration without prior approval from the competent authority 1 p.1
2. Statutory auditors
2.1 Name and address of the statutory auditors 206 N/A
22 Resignation, removal, and non renewal of statutory auditors N/A N/A
3. Risk factors 134-153 2
4. Information about the issuer
4.1 Legal and commercial name 1 and 280 p-1
4.2 Place of registration, registration number, and legal entity identifier 280 N/A
(“LEI")
43 Date of incorporation and term 280 N/A
4.4 Domicile and legal form of the issuer; legislation; country of 280 and 296 N/A
incorporation; address, telephone number of the registered office, and
website
5. Business overview
5.1 Principal activities 13-19 N/A
52 Principal markets 4-7 N/A
53 Important events in the development of the issuer’s business 280 1and 11
5.4 Strategy and objectives 10 6 and 9
5.5 Dependence on patents; licenses; industrial, commercial, or financial 19-21 and 282 N/A
contracts; or new manufacturing processes
5.6 Basis for any statements made by the issuer regarding its competitive 7 N/A
position
5.7 Investments
571 Material investments completed 10 and 24-32 land 11
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572 Investments in progress or for which firm commitments have already been 10 and 24-32 land 11
made
573 Joint ventures and undertakings in which the issuer holds a proportion of 101-106, 298-299, and N/A
the capital likely to have a significant effect on the assessment of its own 284
assets and liabilities, financial position, or profits and losses
5.7.4 Environmental issues that may affect the user’s utilisation of the tangible 218-220 N/A
fixed assets
6. Organisational Structure
6.1 Brief description of the Group 280-284 and 298-299 Annex 2.
6.2 Significant subsidiaries 101-106 and 298-299 Annex 2.
7. Operating and financial
7.1 Financial condition
7.1.1 Development and performance of the issuer’s business and of its position 25-35 and 274-277 3 and 5
for each year and interim period for which historical financial information
is required
7.1.2 Issuer’s likely future development and activities in the field of research N/A N/A
and development
7.2 Operating results
7.2.1 Significant factors, unusual or infrequent events, 23-35 3and 5
or new developments materially affecting operating income
722 Reasons for material changes in net sales or revenues 22-35 3and 5
8. Capital resources N/A
8.1 Information about capital resources 32,34-35,43, N/A
73,and 117-118
8.2 Sources and amounts of and a narrative description of the issuer’s cash 25,31-32, 5
flows 34, and 41-42
8.3 Borrowing requirements and funding structure 74-75 and 119-120 land5
8.4 Information regarding any restrictions on the use of capital resources that 80-84 and 143 N/A
have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or indirectly,
the issuer’s operations
8.5 Information regarding the anticipated sources of funds needed to fulfil 45-46, N/A
commitments referred to in item 5.7.2. 74-75, and 81-84
9. Regulatory environment
9.1 Description of the regulatory environment that the issuer operates in and 140-141 N/A
that may materially affect its business, together with information regarding|
any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies or
factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the issuer’s operations
10 Trend information
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10.1 Principal trends in production, sales, and inventory, and costs and selling 4-7 2,5and 11
prices since the end of the last financial year to the date of the registration
document
10.2 Known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments 4-7 2,5and 6
or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the issuer’s
prospects for at least the current financial year
11, Profit forecasts or estimates
11.1 Published profit forecasts or estimates N/A N/A
11.2 Principal assumptions on which the issuer based its forecasts or estimates N/A N/A
11.3 Declaration of comparability with historical financial information and N/A N/A
consistency with the issuer’s accounting policies
12| Administrative, management, and supervisory bodies and senior management
12.1 Information about the members of the administrative, management, and 156-170 7 and 8
supervisory bodies and 196-197
12.2 Conflicts of interest of administrative, management, and supervisory 168-169 N/A
bodies
13| Remuneration and benefits
13.1 Amount of remuneration paid and benefits in kind granted by the issuer 85-95, 100, 7
and its subsidiaries 179-194, and 197
13.2 Total amounts set aside or accrued by the issuer or its subsidiaries to 85-89 7
provide for pension, retirement, or similar benefits
14, Practices of the administrative and supervisory bodies
14.1 Date of expiration of the current term of office, if applicable, and the 157 8
period during which the person has served in that office
14.2 Information about members of the administrative, management, or 168-169 N/A
supervisory bodies’ service contracts with the issuer or any of its
subsidiaries providing for benefits upon termination of employment, or an
appropriate statement to the effect that no such benefits exist
14.3 Information about the issuer’s audit committee and remuneration 173-178 8
committee
14.4 Statement of compliance with the applicable corporate governance region 195 1
14.5 Potential material impacts on corporate governance N/A 1
15, Employees
15.1 Either the number of employees at the end of the period or the average for 8, 94-95, 232, and 268 N/A
each financial year for the period covered by the historical financial
information up to the date of the registration document by breakdown of
employees by main category of activity and geographic location
15.2 Shareholdings and stock options 90-94, 121-124, 10
and 198-204
153 Arrangements for involving the employees in the issuer’s share capital 203-204 N/A
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16, Principal shareholders
16.1 Name of any person other than a member of the administrative, 290-291 8
management or supervisory bodies who, directly or indirectly, has an
interest in the issuer’s capital or voting rights which is notifiable under the
issuer’s national law, together with the amount of each such person’s
interest, or appropriate statement to that that effect that no such person
exists
16.2 Existence of different voting rights 281 and 290-291 1
16.3 Direct or indirect ownership or control of the issuer N/A N/A
16.4 Any arrangements known to the issuer the operation of which may at a N/A N/A
subsequent date result in a change in control
17, Related party transactions
17.1 Details of related party transactions 99 N/A
18 Financial information concerning the issuer’s assets and liabilities, financial
position, and profits and losses
18.1 Historical financial information
18.1.1 Audited historical financial information covering the last three financial 38-106, 107- N/A
years and audit report in respect of each year 110, 111-125,
126-129, and 301
18.1.2 Change of accounting reference date N/A N/A
18.1.3 Accounting standards 47-52 1
18.1.4 Change of accounting framework 47-48 N/A
18.1.5 Audited financial information prepared according to national accounting 111-125 N/A
standards
18.1.6 Consolidated financial statements 40-106 N/A
18.1.7 Age of financial information 31 March 2020 N/A
18.2 Interim and other financial information 5
18.2.1 Half-yearly or quarterly financial information N/A 5
18.3 Auditing of historical annual financial information N/A
18.3.1 Independent audit of historical annual financial information 38-106, 111- N/A
125, and 301
18.3.2 Other information audited by the auditors 107-110, 126-129, and 4
259-260
18.3.3 Financial information not extracted from the issuer’s audited financial 33-35 N/A
statements
18.4 Pro forma financial information N/A 3, Annex 10
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18.4.1 Significant change in gross amounts N/A N/A
18.5 Dividend policy
18.5.1 Description of the issuer’s policy on dividend distributions and 295 9
any restrictions thereon
18.5.2 Amount of the dividend per share 295 9
18.6 Legal and arbitration proceedings
18.6.1 Significant proceedings 284 12
18.7 Significant change in the issuer’s financial position
18.7.1 Description 284 N/A
19. | Additional information
19.1 Share capital
19.1.1 Amount of issued and authorised capital, number of shares issued and 285 and 290-291 N/A
fully paid and issued but not fully paid, par value per share,
reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and
end of the year
19.1.2 Information on shares not representing capital 295 N/A
19.1.3 Number, book value, and face value of shares in the issuer held by or 293-294 N/A
on behalf of the issuer itself or by subsidiaries of the issuer
19.1.4 Information on convertible securities, exchangeable securities, or 199-204 and 293 1
securities with warrants
19.1.5 Information about and terms of any acquisition rights and/or N/A 1 and 10; annexes 3 to 7
obligations over authorised but unissued capital or an undertaking
to increase the capital
19.1.6 Information about any capital of any member of the Group which is N/A N/A
under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put
under option
19.1.7 History of the share capital 287-289 N/A
19.2 Memorandum and Articles of Association
19.2.1 Register and issuer’s objects and purposes 280-281 N/A
19.2.2 Rights, privileges, and restrictions on each class of shares 285 1,10
19.2.3 Description of the issuer’s articles of association, statutes, charter, N/A 1, Annex 7

or bylaws that would have an effect of delaying, deferring, or
preventing a change in control of the issuer

20. | Material contracts
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20.1 Summary of each material contract 284 N/A
21. | Documents available
21.1 Statement on documents that may be inspected 282 p.1
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For the attention of the members of
the Board of Directors

ALSTOM

48 Albert Dhalenne Street

93400 Saint Ouen

France

Paris, the 27 September 2020

Free translation based on French version dated 27 September 2020
Context of our engagement and limitations

In connection with the proposed acquisition by ALSTOM HOLDINGS, A wholly-owned subsidiary
of ALSTOM SA, of all the shares making up the share capital of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
(INVESTMENT) UK LIMITED (hereinafter BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION) and the reinvestment by
the sellers’,in the form of reserved capital increases, of a part of the proceeds from the sale
within ALSTOM SA (hereafter the "Transaction"), we have been asked, as independent expert
appointed by the Board of Directors of ALSTOM, to assess the financial terms and conditions of
the Transaction and its fairness to the shareholders of ALSTOM SA.

We conduct our engagement as an independent expert voluntarily appointed by the Board of
Directors of ALSTOM SA. This fairness opinion is therefore drawn up for the benefit of persons
governed by French law and meets the requirements thereof. We therefore assume no liability
with respect to persons governed by other legal systems or under another authority, even if
regulations thereunder are enclosed with the documentation made available to shareholders.
In addition, our fairness opinion does not exempt from reading all the public documentation
already available or that will be made available in connection with this Transaction.

To carry out our engagement, we used public documents and information provided to us by
ALSTOM and BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION. These documents were considered accurate and
complete and were not subject to any particular review. It was not our intent to validate the
historical and forecast data used, which we only verified for reasonableness and consistency.
This engagement did not include an audit of the financial statements, contracts, litigation and
any other documents sent to us.

Our liability may not be engaged with regards to the accuracy or completeness of the
information collected as part of our engagement.

" BOMBARDIER INC. and the CAISSE DE DEPOT ET PLACEMENT DU QUEBEC (CDPQ)
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Furthermore, this fairness opinion is not in any case an opinion or recommendation on whether
it is advisable to carry out any deal and/or transaction, or any other business, all of which falls
exclusively under the liability of ALSTOM. In particular, we have not advised nor assisted
ALSTOM in any manner whatsoever in connection with its negotiations with the sellers on the
acquisition of the shares of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION.

Lastly, we have received a management representative letter from ALSTOM attesting to the fact
that the information transmitted on the occasion of this Transaction is complete, and that not
significant event has occurred as of the date of our fairness opinion that could call into question
our assessment of the financial conditions of the Transaction. We did not, however, receive
any such letter from BOMBARDIER.

Background of the Transaction

This Transaction is a major industrial merger in the rail sector that aims to create the world's
No. 2 rail operator, with a new, stronger long-term shareholder base.

It takes the form of an acquisition by ALSTOM HOLDINGS of 100% of the shares of BOMBARDIER
TRANSPORTATION from CDPQ and BOMBARDIER INC., based on a price revised on 16
September 2020 between €5.5 billion and €5.9 billion, before implementation of the downward
adjustment relating to BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION's liquidity position, which will be
determined on 31 December 2020.

With this acquisition, ALSTOM will become the world’s second-largest company in the sector,
with an order backlog of nearly €75 billion and turnover of over €15 billion on a proforma basis
at 31 March 2020.

The two groups have complementary products and geographical areas and their combination
should generate significant synergies estimated at around €400 million per year between the
4th and 5th year following the completion of the acquisition.

The terms and conditions of the Transaction provide for a total reinvestment of the proceeds
received by CDPQ, i.e. approximately €2 billion, in ALSTOM's capital, plus an additional cash
contribution of €700 million, making CDPQ the "new long-term shareholder" of ALSTOM.
Concerning BOMBARDIER INC., the sale will mainly be carried out in cash, the amount of the
reinvestment being limited to approximately €500 million. These reinvestment transactions will
give rise to two reserved capital increases, at unit subscription prices of €44.45 and €47.5
respectively for CDPQ and BOMBARDIER INC. A capital increase open to all ALSTOM
shareholders of approximately €2 billion is also planned to refinance the acquisition debt.

Work performed

Given the nature of the Transaction, involving the acquisition of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
shares by ALSTOM HOLDINGS and the reinvestment by the sellers of part of the proceeds in
ALSTOM SA through two reserved capital increases, our work involved an overall assessment
of the Transaction and an evaluation of both ALSTOM SA and BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION.

Our work consisted mainly in :



e Reviewing the legal documentation relating to the Transaction (in particular the
memorandum of understanding signed on 17 February 2020, the Acquisition
Agreement and its appendices, as well as the two investment agreements signed on
16 September 2020), within the strict limits and for the sole purpose of collecting the
information useful to our engagement;

o Meeting, on various occasions, with the management of the companies both to
understand the context of the Transaction and to understand the business prospects
and financial forecasts resulting from it;

e Implementing a consistent multi-criteria assessment approach for ALSTOM and
BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION,

e Reading the terms and conditions for determining the subscription price of ALSTOM
shares;

e Preparing a fairness opinion to the Board of Directors of ALSTOM setting out the valuation
of the BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION and ALSTOM shares and our opinion as to the fairness
of the financial terms and conditions of the Transaction.

Our procedures correspond to the implementation of the procedures described above. They
are not similar to an audit or Independent Business Review of the forecasts established by
BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION and ALSTOM.

Opinion on the acquisition Price of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION

We implemented a multi-criteria valuation approach for BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION to
assess the purchase price between €5.5 billion and €5.9 billion before cash adjustments.

To conduct our work, we reviewed notes by analysts who monitor BOMBARDIER INC. and have
published a valuation of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORT, BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION'S business
plan drawn-up in the 4th quarter 2019 and ALSTOM'S revisions to this plan to incorporate the
events that have occurred since that date. It should be noted that this revised plan reflects a
level of project risk coverage deemed to be adequate for the risks estimated for the projects,
per the exchanges between ALSTOM and BOMBARDIER as well as ALSTOM's assessments.

Based on our work, we concluded that the price of €5.5 billion (the low end of the above-
mentioned acquisition price range before cash adjustment) for 100% of BOMBARDIER
TRANSPORTATION's shares resulted in a significant control premium which is justified by the
existence of significant synergies expected from the Transaction for a total discounted amount
estimated at €3.3 billion, including their implementation cost, and by the strategic nature of the
Transaction for ALSTOM.

If we assume that all of the synergies expected from the Transaction will be materialized, the
Transaction would create value for ALSTOM's shareholder, which would then translate into an
increase in earnings per share in the medium term.

On these bases, we consider that the acquisition price for 100% of BOMBARDIER
TRANSPORTATION's shares is fair from a financial point of view, especially since the combined
group will be made stronger over the long term by a critical mass that will diversify its risk in a
highly competitive global environment.



Opinion on the conditions for reinvestment by the sellers in ALSTOM

It should be noted that subscriptions of the capital increases reserved for CDPQ and
BOMBARDIER INC. will reach an amount of approximately €3.1 billion, enabling the financing of
a very substantial part of the acquisition of BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION.

The subscription prices of these reserved capital increases were determined on the basis of
average share prices in February 2020, the date at which the share price level could be
considered high. The evolution of ALSTOM's share price since that date does not call into
question this observation.

The subscription at a slightly lower price for CDPQ compared to BOMBARDIER INC. does not
call for any remark since CDPQ reinvests 100% of the price and an additional amount of
€700 million, which will put it in a position as the main shareholder of ALSTOM for the long term.

Finally, the anti-dilutive mechanism from which the two investors benefit, aims to allow them
to benefit from economic rights equivalent to those of ALSTOM's shareholders, in particular if
the open capital increase took place prior to the capital increases reserved for them.

On these bases, we consider that the subscription prices of the capital increases reserved for
CDPQ and BOMBARDIER INC. are fair from a financial point of view, and that the anti-dilution
mechanisms retained by the parties do not call for any further comments on our part.
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ORGANISATION CHART OF THE ALSTOM GROUP FOLLOWING THE TRANSACTION

Bombardier Inc.

CDPQ

Bombardier
UK Holding Limited

CDP Investissements Inc.

Other shareholders

S:~18%

S:~3%
VR: ~ 3%

VR: ~ 18%

S: ~69%
VR: ~ 69%

Alstom S.A.

Alstom Holdings S.A.

Bombardier Transport Bombardier Transport France
(excluding Bombardier SAS*
Transport France SAS*)
Legend
S: percentage of ownership of Alstom SA’s share capital
VR: percentage of ownership of Alstom SA’s voting rights
*: The acquisition of Bombardier Transport SAS by Alstom Holding S.A. would occur immediately after the

acquisition of Bombardier Transport by Alstom Holdings S.A.
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Annex 3

SITUATIONS IN WHICH THE NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH THE
CAPITAL INCREASE RESERVED FOR BOMBARDIER WILL BE ADJUSTED

The content of Annex 3 (Conditions of adjustment of the number of ordinary shares to be issued pursuant
to the eighth resolution) to the draft resolutions submitted to the general meeting of 29 October 2020, which
sets forth the situations of adjustment of the number of securities issued as part of the capital increase
reserved for Bombardier UK Holding Limited (hereinafter, the “Bombardier Beneficiary”) is reproduced
below.

Subsequent to any of the following transactions:

financial transactions conferring listed preferential subscription rights;

the free distribution of listed warrants;

the free distribution of shares to shareholders, share split or reverse share split;

the capitalization of reserves, profits or premiums through an increase in the nominal value of
shares;

the distribution of reserves and/or premiums, in cash or in kind,;

the free distribution to the Company’s shareholders of any financial instrument other than shares;
the buy-back by the Company of its own shares at a price higher than the market price;

the redemption of share capital; and

a change in the statutory rules relating to allocation of the profits and/or issuance of preferred shares;

HPwbdpE

© NGO

which the Company may carry out as from 17 February 2020, the number of ordinary shares to be issued
to the benefit of the Bombardier Beneficiary pursuant to the eighth resolution of this general meeting (the
“Bombardier Relevant Number”) will be adjusted without any further subscription payment from the
holders of Class B Preferred Shares (the Bombardier Relevant Number, as adjusted, being the “Adjusted
Bombardier Relevant Number™) as set forth below.

1. In the event of a financial transaction conferring listed preferential subscription rights, the Adjusted
Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying the Bombardier Relevant Number
in effect prior to the commencement of the relevant transaction by the following ratio:

Value of the shares after detachment of the subscription right
+ value of the subscription right

Value of the shares after detachment of the subscription right

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio, the value of the share after detachment of
the subscription right will be equal to its VWAP on Euronext Paris for each day included
in the subscription period (with volume weighting, in such a way to result in a VWAP over
the entire period and not an average of daily VWAPSs, it being specified as may be
necessary that whenever it is referred in this Annex to a VWAP for each trading day
included in a given period, such calculation method shall be used over the relevant period)
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and the value of the subscription right will be equal to its VWAP on Euronext Paris for
each trading day included in the listing period.

In the event of a financial transaction involving the free distribution of listed warrants to
shareholders with the corresponding ability to place on the market the securities resulting from the
exercise of warrants that were unexercised by their holders at the end of the subscription period
that applies to them, the Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying
the Bombardier Relevant Number in effect prior to the commencement of the relevant transaction
by the following ratio:

Value of the shares after distribution of the warrant
+ value of the warrant

value of the shares after distribution of the warrant

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio,

(i) the value of the share after distribution of the warrant will be equal to the volume-weighted
average of (x) the price of the shares listed on Euronext Paris on each trading day of the
subscription period, and (y) (a) the transfer price of the securities sold within the framework
of the placement, if such securities are shares fungible with the existing shares, applying
the volume of shares sold within the framework of the placement to the transfer price or
(b) the price of the shares listed on Euronext Paris on the determination date of the sale
price of the securities sold within the framework of the placement if such securities are not
shares fungible with the existing shares.

(i) the value of the warrant will be equal to the volume-weighted average of (i) the prices of
the warrants on Euronext on each trading day of the subscription period, and, (ii) the
implicit value (valeur implicite) of the warrants resulting from the sale price of the
securities sold within the framework of the placement — which corresponds to the
difference (if it is positive), adjusted by the warrants’ exchange ratio, between the sale price
of the securities sold within the framework of the placement and the subscription price of
the securities through exercise of the warrants — by applying the volume of exercised
warrants to the price so determined in order to allocate the securities sold within the
framework of the placement.

In the event of the free distribution of shares to shareholders, share split or reverse share split, the
Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying the Bombardier
Relevant Number in effect prior to the commencement of the relevant transaction by the following
ratio:

Number of shares comprising the share capital after the transaction

Number of shares comprising the share capital before the transaction

Page 2 of 5



(a)
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Annex 3

In the event of a share capital increase by capitalization of reserves, profits or premiums carried out
by increase in the nominal value of the shares, the nominal value of the ordinary shares to be
allocated to the Bombardier Beneficiary will be increased accordingly.

In the event of distribution by the Company of any reserve or premium, in cash or in kind, the
Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying the Bombardier
Relevant Number in effect prior to the distribution by the following ratio

Value of the shares before distribution
value of the shares before distribution - value of the distribution

In the event of a free distribution to the Company’s shareholders of financial instruments or
securities other than the shares, the Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined as
follows:

if the right to the free allocation of financial instruments or securities was admitted to trading on
Euronext Paris, by multiplying the Bombardier Relevant Number in effect prior to the
commencement of the relevant transaction by the following ratio:

Value of the share ex-right to free allocation + value of the free allocation right

Value of the share ex-right to free allocation

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio:

(A) the value of the share ex-right to free allocation will be equal to the volume-
weighted average share price on Euronext Paris of the share ex-right to free
allocation during the first three trading days on which the shares are listed ex-right
to free allocation;

(B) the value of the free allocation right will be determined as indicated in the
paragraph above. If the free allocation right is not listed during each of the three
trading days above mentioned, then its value will be determined by an Independent
Expert.

if the right to free allocation of financial instruments or securities was not admitted to trading on
Euronext Paris, by multiplying the Bombardier Relevant Number in effect prior to the
commencement of the relevant transaction by the following ratio:

Value of the share ex-right to free allocation
+ value of the security or financial instrument allocated per share

Value of the share ex-right to free allocation

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio:

(A) the value of the share ex-right to free allocation will be determined as indicated in
paragraph 6(a) above;

Page 3 of 5



Annex 3

(B) if the financial instruments or securities allocated are listed or may become listed
on Euronext Paris, within ten trading days beginning on the date on which the
shares are listed ex-distribution, then the value of the financial instruments
allocated per share will be equal to the volume-weighted average of the price of
such financial instruments recorded on such market during the first three trading
days of this period during which such securities are listed. If the financial
instruments allocated are not listed during at least three trading days within such
period, then the value of the financial instruments allocated per share will be
determined by an Independent Expert.

7. In the event of a buy-back by the Company of its own shares at a price higher than the market price,
the Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying the Bombardier
Relevant Number in effect prior to the commencement of the repurchase by the following ratio:

Share value X (1 — Pc%)

Share value — (Pc% X Repurchase price)
For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio:

(i) Share value means the VWAP of the share on Euronext Paris during the ten trading days
immediately preceding such repurchase (or the option to repurchase);

(i) Pc% means the percentage of repurchased capital; and
(iii)  Repurchase price means the actual price at which shares are repurchased.

8. In the event of a redemption of share capital, the Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be
determined by multiplying the Bombardier Relevant Number in effect prior to the commencement
of the relevant transaction by the following ratio:

Value of the share before redemption

Value of the share before redemption — Amount of redemption per share

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio, the value of the share before redemption will be
equal to the VWAP of the Company’s share on Euronext Paris during the ten trading days
immediately preceding the trading day on which the shares are listed ex-redemption.
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9. In the event of the modification by the Company of its statutory rules relating to profits allocation
and/or the issuance of preferred shares resulting in such a change, the Adjusted Bombardier
Relevant Number will be determined by multiplying the Bombardier Relevant Number in effect
prior to the commencement of the relevant transaction by the following ratio:

Value of the share before the change

Value of the share before the change — reduction per share of the right to profits

For the purpose of the calculation of this ratio:

(A) the value of the share before the change will be determined on the basis of the
VWAP of the share on Euronext Paris during the three trading days immediately
preceding the day of such change;

(B) the reduction per share of the rights to profits will be determined by an Independent
Expert.

Notwithstanding the above, if such preferred shares are issued with shareholders’
preferential subscription rights or by the free distribution to shareholders of warrants
exercisable for such preferred shares, the new Subscription Price will be adjusted in
accordance with paragraphs 1 or 6 above.

In the event of the creation of preferred shares that do not lead to a modification of the
distribution of profits, the Adjusted Bombardier Relevant Number will be determined by
an Independent Expert.

In any case, a single transaction cannot lead to the application of several adjustments provided for in
paragraphs 1 to 9 above. In case the Company completes a transaction for which several adjustments would
be applicable, priority will be given to legal adjustments.
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Annex 4

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PREFERRED SHARES

Capitalized terms used in these Terms and Conditions shall have the meaning ascribed to them in Annex A

(Definitions) hereto.
Issuer

Securities

Legal Issue basis:

Subscriber:
Nominal Value:

Issue Dates

Subscription Price:

Means of Payment of
the Subscription
Price:

Number of Class B
Preferred Shares
Issued

Alstom S.A. (“Alstom” or the “Company”).

Mandatorily convertible preferred shares of the Company (the “Class B
Preferred Shares”).

Class B Preferred Shares issued pursuant to the sixth resolution of
Alstom’s shareholders meeting convened for 29 October 2020.

CDP Investissements Inc. (“CDPI”).
EUR 7 per Class B Preferred Share.

On the Completion Date, simultaneously to Completion (the “First Issue
Date”, the Class B Preferred Shares issued on the First Issue Date being
referred to as the “Completion Class B Preferred Shares”); and on the
date of payment of the Post-Completion Price Adjustment, if any (the
“Second Issue Date”, the Class B Preferred Shares issued on the Second
Issue Date being referred to as the “Post-Completion Class B Preferred
Shares”).

EUR 44.45 including an issue premium of EUR 37.45 per Class B
Preferred Share.

For the Completion Class B Preferred Shares, by set-off up to the
Completion Payment payable by Alstom Holdings to CDPI on the
Completion Date (after delegation of such payment obligation by Alstom
Holdings to the Issuer) and seven hundred million euros, in cash payable
on the First Issue Date; and for the Post-Completion Class B Preferred
Shares, by set-off up to the Post-Completion Price Adjustment amount
payable by Alstom Holdings to CDPI on the relevant date (after delegation
of such payment obligation by Alstom Holdings to the Issuer).

The Completion Class B Preferred Shares shall be issued, at the
Subscription Price, in a number equal to the quotient (rounded down to the
nearest integer) having for numerator the sum of the Completion Payment
and seven hundred million euros, and for denominator the Subscription
Price.

The Post-Completion Class B Preferred Shares shall be issued, at the
Subscription Price, in a number equal to the quotient (rounded down to the
nearest integer) having for numerator the Post-Completion Price
Adjustment amount and for denominator the Subscription Price.
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Unavailable The issue premium resulting from the Subscription Price shall be allocated

Accounts: to an “issue premium” account for the purpose of paying up the CDPQ
Ordinary Shares, and such account (the “Unavailable Account”) shall be
unavailable for any other purpose without the consent of the holder(s) of
the majority of the Class B Preferred Shares until the conversion of all
Class B Preferred Shares into ordinary shares. Where the completion of a
transaction triggering the Rights Issue Adjustment or the Other
Adjustments is likely to result in an the impossibility to issue all CDPQ
Ordinary Shares using the Unavailable Account only, Alstom shall transfer
to a reserve account (the “Additional Unavailable Account”) no later
than the effective date of any such transaction, such amount of premium
or reserve reasonably necessary to allow the conversion in full of the Class
B Preferred Shares into the CDPQ Ordinary Shares, the amount of reserve
or premium so transferred becoming unavailable for any other purpose
than this one.

Form: Class B Preferred Shares shall be in registered or bearer form.

Rights and Subject to the specific provisions provided for in these Terms and
obligations attached Conditions, each Class B Preferred Share shall benefit from the same rights
to the Class B attached to a Company’s ordinary share and shall be subject to the same
Preferred Shares: obligations attached to such ordinary share. In particular:

— each Class B Preferred Share shall carry one voting right at any
Alstom’s shareholders meeting,

— atany given time, each Class B Preferred Share shall give right in
the Company’s assets and the distribution of dividends (excluding
reserves and/or premiums) to the product of (i) the right attached
to an ordinary share of the Company pursuant to the terms set out
in Article 21 and 23 of Alstom’s articles of association by (ii) the
number of CDPQ Ordinary Share(s) to which the said Class B
Preferred Share would give right upon conversion if the
conversion of the said Class B Preferred Share occurr